Human Reproduction Update, Vol.25, No.6, pp. 758-776, 2019

Advance Access Publication on October 30, 2019 doi:10.1093/humupd/dmz032

human reproduction update

Human sperm ion channel (dys)function: implications for fertilization

Sean G. Brown^{1,*}, Stephen J. Publicover³, Christopher L.R. Barratt², and Sarah J. Martins da Silva^{2,*}

¹School of Applied Sciences, Abertay University, Dundee DD11HG, UK ²Systems Medicine, Ninewells Hospital and Medical School, University of Dundee, Dundee DD19SY, UK ³School of Biosciences, University of Birmingham B15 2TT, UK

*Correspondence address. School of Applied Sciences, Abertay University, Dundee DDIIHG, UK. E-mail: s.brown3@abertay.ac.uk © orcid.org/0000-0003-0767-0253; S.J. Martins da Silva s.martinsdasilva@dundee.ac.uk © orcid.org/0000-0003-2579-4866; Systems Medicine, Ninewells Hospital and Medical School, University of Dundee, Dundee DDI9SY, UK. E-mail: s.martinsdasilva@dundee.ac.uk

Submitted on March 1, 2019; resubmitted on July 14, 2019; editorial decision on August 13, 2019

TABLE OF CONTENTS

- Introduction
- Methods
- CatSper
 - The discovery and importance of CatSper for fertilization
 - The characteristics and function of human CatSper

Evidence for and consequences of impaired CatSper function in human sperm

- The sperm potassium channel
 - The discovery and importance for fertilization The characteristics and function of the human sperm potassium channel Evidence for and consequences of impaired potassium channel function inhuman sperm
- Other ion channels in human sperm
- Molecular and functional deficits of human sperm with ion channel impairments
 - Transcription and translation
 - Plasma membrane organization (trafficking/insertion/processing)
 - The nature of human sperm dysfunction in sperm with ion channel defects (molecular and physiological)
- Final perspective

BACKGROUND: Intensive research on sperm ion channels has identified members of several ion channel families in both mouse and human sperm. Gene knock-out studies have unequivocally demonstrated the importance of the calcium and potassium conductances in sperm for fertility. In both species, the calcium current is carried by the highly complex cation channel of sperm (CatSper). In mouse sperm, the potassium current has been conclusively shown to be carried by a channel consisting of the pore forming subunit SLO3 and auxiliary subunit leucine-rich repeat-containing 52 (LRRC52). However, in human sperm it is controversial whether the pore forming subunit of the channel is composed of SLO3 and/or SLO1. Deciphering the role of the proton-specific Hv1 channel is more challenging as it is only expressed in human sperm. However, definitive evidence for a role in, and importance for, human fertility can only be determined through studies using clinical samples.

OBJECTIVE AND RATIONALE: This review aims to provide insight into the role of sperm ion channels in human fertilization as evidenced from recent studies of sperm from infertile men. We also summarize the key discoveries from mouse ion channel knock-out models and contrast the properties of mouse and human CatSper and potassium currents. We detail the evidence for, and consequences of, defective ion channels in human sperm and discuss hypotheses to explain how defects arise and why affected sperm have impaired fertilization potential.

© The Author(s) 2019. Published by Oxford University Press on behalf of the European Society of Human Reproduction and Embryology.

This is an Open Access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted reuse, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited.

SEARCH METHODS: Relevant studies were identified using PubMed and were limited to ion channels that have been characterized in mouse and human sperm. Additional notable examples from other species are included as appropriate.

OUTCOMES: There are now well-documented fundamental differences between the properties of CatSper and potassium channel currents in mouse and human sperm. However, in both species, sperm lacking either channel cannot fertilize *in vivo* and CatSper-null sperm also fail to fertilize at IVF. Sperm-lacking potassium currents are capable of fertilizing at IVF, albeit at a much lower rate. However, additional complex and heterogeneous ion channel dysfunction has been reported in sperm from infertile men, the causes of which are unknown. Similarly, the nature of the functional impairment of affected patient sperm remains elusive. There are no reports of studies of HvI in human sperm from infertile men.

WIDER IMPLICATIONS: Recent studies using sperm from infertile men have given new insight and critical evidence supporting the supposition that calcium and potassium conductances are essential for human fertility. However, it should be highlighted that many fundamental questions remain regarding the nature of molecular and functional defects in sperm with dysfunctional ion channels. The development and application of advanced technologies remains a necessity to progress basic and clinical research in this area, with the aim of providing effective screening methodologies to identify and develop treatments for affected men in order to help prevent failed ART cycles. Conversely, development of drugs that block calcium and/or potassium conductances in sperm is a plausible strategy for producing sperm-specific contraceptives.

Key words: sperm / ion channels / CatSper / male infertility / calcium / potassium channel

Introduction

Infertility is a global health challenge, estimated to affect \sim 10–13% of people of reproductive age (Datta et al., 2016). Sperm dysfunction, particularly impaired motility, is a significant contributing factor. However, no drugs are available to rescue sperm function in vivo or in vitro. A fundamental reason for this is a lack of understanding of the cellular and molecular control of the physiological functions of spermatozoa (Barratt et al., 2017). It is well over a decade since the first identification of the cation channel of sperm (CatSper) in the plasma membrane of mouse sperm. Numerous studies have subsequently characterized ion channels in mammalian sperm, including sperm from fertile men and patients undergoing ART. It has become clear that ion channel activities are crucial for sperm function and that dysfunction of these channels has significant consequences for fertilization. This review re-evaluates proposed models for the physiological role(s) of sperm ion channels and discusses important issues that arise from recent studies of sperm from infertile patients.

Methods

A comprehensive literature search was undertaken using the PubMed database to find articles up to May 2019 that reported on studies investigating human and mouse sperm ion channels. Notable examples from other species were added as required to complete the narrative. The search terms included, either alone or in combination with sperm, were CatSper, calcium signalling, ion channels, potassium channel, infertility and membrane potential.

CatSper

The discovery and importance of CatSper for fertilization

Early investigations into the regulation of sperm functions established calcium signalling as a regulator of sperm acrosome reaction and motility (Placzek et al., 1987; Thomas and Meizel, 1988; Mortimer et al., 1988; Stock and Fraser, 1989; Serres et al., 1991; Blackmore, 1993). In human sperm, progesterone (P4), prostaglandin (PG) E1 and E2 were

noted as potent agonists of these functions through their capacity to rapidly elevate intracellular calcium ion concentration ($[Ca^{2+}]_i$, Aitken et al., 1986; Colon et al., 1986; Shimizu et al., 1988; Blackmore et al., 1991; Yang et al., 1994; Schaefer et al., 1988, 2000). The extracellular site of action of P4 (Blackmore and Lattanzio 1991; Blackmore et al., 1991; Meizel and Turner, 1991), the inhibitory effect of extracellular calcium chelation and efficacy of some calcium channel blockers on sperm function and progesterone-induced calcium influx (Placzek et al., 1993; Anand et al., 1994; O'Toole et al., 1996; Goodwin et al., 1997) supported the hypothesis of involvement of an ion channel in these processes (Shimizu et al., 1988; Blackmore et al., 1990).

Despite molecular and immunohistochemical analysis of spermatocytes and sperm from various species providing evidence in support of the expression of a number of candidate channels (Weyand et al., 1994; Santi et al., 1996; Wiesner et al., 1998; Serrano et al., 1999; Wennemuth et al., 2000), neither the nature of the sperm membrane Ca²⁺ channel(s) nor its regulation by P4 in human sperm could be further characterized due to technical challenges of applying patchclamp electrophysiology to whole sperm. Initial attempts at characterization of channels in boar, sea urchin and mouse sperm relied on fusion of the cell membrane to planar bilayers (Guerrero et al., 1987; Cox et al., 1991; Babcock et al., 1992; Beltrán et al., 1994; Labarca et al., 1996; Tiwari-Woodruff et al., 1995). Single-channel recordings from mouse and human sperm head were achieved but did not yield clear information on a sperm Ca^{2+} channel (Espinosa et al., 1998; Gu et al., 2004; Jiminez-Gonzalez et al., 2007). A breakthrough came upon the identification of CatSper, a novel testis-specific channel, and the study of genetically modified CatSper-null mice. Animals that lack CATSPER1 (one of the four subunits that make up the channel pore) are infertile and have sperm that exhibit motility defects and fail to fertilize at IVF. CatSper, which localizes to the principle piece of the flagellum, was deemed critical for sperm motility and male fertility (Ren et al., 2001). Despite considerable effort, heterologous expression of functional CatSper in vitro, allowing electrophysiological characterization, proved (and currently remains) impossible. A significant reason for this is that CatSper is a highly complex multisubunit ion channel made up of at least 10 subunits (Quill et al., 2001, 2003; Ren et al., 2001; Carlson et al., 2003; Lobley et al., 2003; Liu

et al., 2007; Qi et al., 2007; Wang et al., 2009; Chung et al., 2011, 2017; Hwang et al., 2019). CATSPER 1-4 alpha-subunits form the channel pore and are essential for formation of a functional channel complex. Knock-out of any of these subunits prevents functional channel expression and completely compromises fertilization in vivo and in vitro. CATSPER BETA, DELTA, GAMMA, EPSILON, ZETA and EFCAB9 are accessory subunits (Fig. IA) whose expression in sperm is dependent upon that of CATSPER I (Chung et al., 2011, 2017; Hwang et al., 2019). Accessory subunit CATSPER DELTA-null male mice are infertile and their sperm fail to express the mature CatSper (Chung et al., 2011). Genetic disruption of CATSPER ZETA or EFCAB9 expression causes subfertility and reduced CatSper expression within disorganized CatSper signalling domains (Chung et al., 2017; Hwang et al., 2019). Importantly, genomic errors at CatSper subunit loci are reported in infertile men (Avidan et al., 2003; Avenarius et al., 2009; Bhilawadikar et al., 2013; Jaiswal et al., 2014; Brown et al., 2018; Luo et al., 2019). Therefore, there is significant genetic evidence to argue that CatSper is essential for male fertility in mouse and humans. CatSper subunits are evolutionary conserved in a large number of genomes of Eumetazoa (Cai and Clapham, 2008; Cai et al., 2014). It has even been demonstrated that CatSper controls chemotaxis of sea urchin sperm (Seifert et al., 2015) and may play a role in the fertilization competence of sperm from some fish species (Yanagimachi et al., 2017). Despite the evolutionary conservation the subunit homology difference between mouse and human (CATSPER I 50% identical, CATSPER 2 62%, CATSPER 3 66%, CATSPER 4 69%, CATSPER BETA 57%, CATSPER DELTA 51%, CATSPER GAMMA 57%, CATSPER EPSILON 52%, CATSPER ZETA 46%, EFCAB9 60%. Source: https://www.uniprot.org/) suggests the potential for significantly divergent function and/or regulation. Indeed, the weight of evidence now suggests that mouse CatSper is not a reliable surrogate for studying channel function in human sperm (Kaupp and Strunker, 2017 and see below). It is therefore necessary to study sperm from fertile and infertile men to determine the role and importance of CatSper for human fertilization.

The characteristics and function of human CatSper

It was shown almost 30 years ago that application of P4 to human sperm evokes an 'immediate' Ca²⁺ influx and consequent increase in [Ca²⁺]_i (Blackmore et al., 1990), and this 'non-genomic' action of the steroid can be considered a dogma of human sperm physiology (Blackmore et al., 1991; Baldi et al., 1991; Foresta et al., 1993; Plant et al., 1995; Meizel et al., 1997; Kirkman-Brown et al., 2000, 2002, 2004; Harper et al., 2003, 2004, 2006; Bedu-Addo et al., 2007; Strunker et al., 2011; Brenker et al., 2012; Servin-Vinces et al., 2012; Alasmari et al., 2013b; Sánchez-Cárdenas et al., 2014; Rennhack et al., 2018). P4 is highly potent (EC₅₀ = 10 ± 10 nM, Strunker et al., 2011) and elevates $[\text{Ca}^{2+}]\text{i}$ in the great majority of cells (typically $>\!90\%$ of the observed sample, Meizel et al., 1997; Kirkman-Brown et al., 2000; Harper et al., 2003; Kelly et al., 2018). However, the molecular identity of this P4-activated channel became apparent only upon the successful application of whole-cell patch clamp electrophysiology to sperm. Wholecell recordings were first obtained from mouse sperm. Inward cation currents present in the tails of wild-type sperm were absent in sperm from CatSper-null mice, showing that the recorded currents were carried by CatSper (Kirichok *et al.*, 2006). Application of the technique to human sperm revealed similar currents ($I_{CatSper}$), also localized to the flagellum. However, although the current characteristics resembled those of mouse $I_{CatSper}$, human $I_{CatSper}$ is strongly potentiated by P4 and PGE1. Comparison of the characteristics of P4-induced Ca²⁺ influx and potentiation of $I_{CatSper}$ confirmed that the action of P4 on human sperm is mediated by activation of CatSper (Lishko *et al.*, 2011; Strunker *et al.*, 2011).

Mouse sperm are much less sensitive to P4 than human, an increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ being observed only with 10–100 μ M P4 (10³ × higher than EC₅₀ for human sperm) and even then only \sim 40% of sperm respond (Kobori et al., 2000; Romarowski et al., 2016). Notably, the ability of high concentrations of P4 to evoke Ca²⁺ signals in mouse sperm is not affected by Catsper 1-knockout (Ren et al., 2001) confirming that this effect is exerted through a completely different mechanism to that observed in human cells. However, human and mouse CatSper do have phenotypic similarities. For example, in both species the channel is activated at alkaline pH, is weakly voltage sensitive and the pore region has a high affinity for divalent ions (as in mouse sperm, human ICatSper is almost exclusively recorded being carried by monovalent ions under divalent-free conditions; Lishko et al., 2011; Strunker et al., 2011). However, under these conditions there is a stark contrast between mouse and human ICatSper: mouse ICatSper is large and quasilinear (Kirichok et al., 2006), whereas inward human ICatSper is smaller and outwardly rectifying. Only when challenged with P4 does human I_{CatSper} resemble that of mouse (Lishko et al., 2011). Analysis of human CatSper conductance under divalent conditions illustrates that P4 and capacitation act independently and co-operatively to change the voltage sensitivity of the channel such that it is open at more physiologically relevant negative potentials (<0mV, Lishko et al., 2011). It has been proposed that the low basal I_{CatSper} is due to suppression of channel activity by endogenous plasma membrane endocannabinoids, which are metabolized by a P4-sensitive membrane lipid hydrolase (ABHD2) present in the principal piece (Miller et al., 2016; Fig. 1B). Application of exogenous endocannabinoids, namely 2-arachidonoylglycerol (2AG) and I-arachidonoylglycerol, abolish human I_{CatSper} while they only suppress mouse $\mathsf{I}_{\mathsf{CatSper}}.$ Interestingly, enzyme inhibition does not affect PGEI sensitivity suggesting that it may activate the channel directly (Miller et al., 2016). Collectively, these studies demonstrate that mouse and human CatSper are regulated in fundamentally different ways and that both the female tract and membrane potential can influence human sperm function by elevating $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ through activation of CatSper.

Given the genetic and biophysical evidence of the prominence of CatSper in sperm, fundamental questions arise, for example what is the physiological function of CatSper in human sperm, and what is the consequence for male fertility for human sperm that lack CatSper? Loss of, or a diminished, response to P4 has been documented in sperm from patients attending a fertility clinic (Falsetti et al., 1993; Oehninger et al., 1994; Krausz et al., 1995, 1996; Espino et al., 2009; Alasmari et al., 2013a; Williams et al., 2015; Brenker et al., 2018; Luo et al., 2019). Furthermore, the P4-induced [Ca²⁺]_i response is correlated with IVF outcome (Krausz et al., 1995, 1996), implying that the P4 response (or the mechanism that mediates it) could be critical for fertilization. In mouse sperm, CatSper-mediated Ca²⁺ entry appears to be crucial for regulation of motility. Sperm from CatSper-null mice show impaired motility and are unable to hyperactivate, which compromises both their ability to ascend the female tract and to penetrate the zona (Carlson



Figure I Human sperm ion channels. (A) Cartoon showing the topology of the pore forming (1-4) and auxiliary subunits that contribute to the mature CatSper complex. The recently described EFCAB9 is an evolutionary conserved CatSper auxiliary subunit that possesses three EF-hand calcium-binding domains and interacts with CATSPER ZETA to regulate channel conductance in mouse sperm (Hwang et al., 2019). (B) Hypothetical model for human sperm ion channel function in the principal piece of the flagellum. Extracellular calcium entry has been definitely shown to occur through CatSper, which is therefore implicated in the regulation of sperm function. Elevated $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ may also be achieved through release from intracellular Ca^{2+} stores located in the RNE. CatSper and additional Ca^{2+} -conducting membrane channels such as TRP and/or calcium releaseactivated calcium channel protein (ORAI) may contribute to refilling the intracellular store. The cyclical release and refilling of these stores causes intracellular Ca²⁺-oscillations that are likely to influence motility and the acrosome reaction. CatSper activity is negatively regulated by endogenous endocannabinoids such as 2AG. Progesterone (P4) is proposed to activate CatSper indirectly through activation of the plasma membrane bound lipid hydrolase ABHD2, which metabolizes 2AG. In contrast, prostaglandin EI (PGEI) may activate the channel directly. CatSper is also regulated by membrane potential (Vm) and pHi. Entry of a depolarizing current 'DSper' through TRPV4 may facilitate CatSper activation. Depolarizationactivated HvI (and/or HSper) channels contribute to elevating intracellular pH by permitting proton efflux that facilitates CatSper function. HvI is inhibited by extracellular Zn^{2+} and potentiated by anandamide. Hyperpolarization/repolarization is regulated by the Ca^{2+} -sensitive sperm potassium channel and chloride channel (CaCC) as well as sodium/potassium ATPase. Therefore, the K⁺ channel (SLO3/LRRC52) and CaCC may have a reciprocal relationship with CatSper. Elevated $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ upon stimulation of CatSper may activate the sperm K⁺ channel. The resulting hyperpolarization may act to reduce CatSper opening. $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ can be lowered by plasma membrane Ca-ATPase activity and SERCA. Conversely, activation of CaCC may facilitate CatSper opening through depolarization of Vm. Furthermore, high concentrations of P4 block I_{KSper} which may facilitate maximal activation of CatSper close to the cumulus-oocyte-complex. However, the nature of interplay between these channels, resultant sperm behaviours and in vivo activity currently remains elusive. We have demonstrated that loss of I_{KSper} does not impact on CatSper expression/P4efficacy but does significantly impact on fertilizing capacity at IVF. In normal sperm, opening of CaCC will cause depolarization. We hypothesize that dysfunctional sperm with unusually depolarized Vm opening of CaCC will cause hyperpolarization, which may help to prevent total fertilization failure in IVF. It is unclear if sperm from patients with unusually high resting $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ is due to elevated basal CatSper conductance or suboptimal extrusion.

et al., 2003; Ho et al., 2009). In human sperm, P4 stimulates cell penetration into viscous medium (mimicking penetration into cervical mucus and/or cumulus matrix), suggesting a similarly important role for human CatSper in regulating sperm motility (Alasmari et al., 2013a, 2013b; Rennhack et al., 2018). However, the importance of P4induced CatSper activation in hyperactivated motility of human sperm is less clear. Assessment of flagellar activity in loosely tethered human sperm shows both increased flagellar bending and beat asymmetry upon exposure to P4, consistent with induction of hyperactivation (Harper et al., 2004; Servin-Vences et al., 2012; Schiffer et al., 2014; Saggiorato et al., 2017). However, although many authors have observed that P4 increased the percentage of hyperactivated sperm within a population (Mbizvo et al., 1990; Uhler et al., 1992; Yang et al., 1994; Calogero et al., 1996; Teves et al., 2006; Kilic et al., 2009; Armon and Eisenbach, 2011; Alasmari et al., 2013b; Rennhack et al., 2018), the reported effects are inconsistent (see Kay et al., 1994; Emiliozzi et al., 1996) and often very small (<10% of cells recruited into the 'hyperactivated population' at saturating P4 concentration). It is likely that the timing of motility assessment is crucial. When P4 is applied to human sperm as a bolus (stepped increase in concentration), the $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ signal is composed of a transient, which lasts only 30–60 s at 37°C, followed by a smaller plateau or slowly increasing ramp (Strunker et al., 2011). Observation of sperm activity immediately upon P4 application (during the transient) shows a marked increase in flagellar activity and asymmetry (Servin-Vences et al., 2012; Smith et al., 2013; Schiffer et al., 2014; Saggiorato et al., 2017). During [Ca²⁺]_i imaging experiments on immobilized human sperm, we have often observed a striking but brief increase in flagellar activity during the [Ca²⁺]_i transient (e.g. Bedu-Addo et al., 2007). However, when assessment of motility is made using computer-assisted sperm analysis (CASA), the delay required to transfer cells to the chamber after addition of P4 is such that measurements are likely to be made when the transient has partially (or fully) subsided. It is likely that the relatively small effects of P4 measured in many CASA studies reflect this issue. Other manipulations,

such as use of 4-aminopyridine and elevation of extracellular pH, are considerably more potent when hyperactivation is assessed by CASA, apparently because a significant increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ is maintained for an extended period (Alasmari *et al.*, 2013a, b; Achikanu *et al.*, 2018).

Assessment of the role of CatSper in activities of human sperm is complicated by the presence of an intracellular calcium store in the region of the redundant nuclear envelope (RNE) that is proposed to contribute to generation of Ca²⁺ signals. Cyclical mobilization and refilling of this Ca²⁺ store contributes to intracellular Ca²⁺ oscillations that are seen following the P4-induced (CatSper-mediated) [Ca²⁺]_i influx (Fig. 1B), though these oscillations require the presence of extracellular calcium (Harper et al., 2004). [Ca²⁺]_i oscillations and 'spiking' can also occur spontaneously (particularly in cells capacitated at low pH; Mata-Martinez et al, 2018). A model of CatSper-dependent calcium-induced calcium release has been proposed (Harper et al., 2004; Alasmari et al., 2013b; Sánchez-Cárdenas et al., 2014; Mata-Martinez et al, 2018). P4-induced $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ oscillations are associated with increased flagellar excursion (Harper et al., 2004; Bedu-Addo et al., 2007) and both spontaneous and P4-induced oscillations appear to inhibit the acrosome reaction (Harper et al., 2004; Sánchez-Cárdenas et al., 2014; Mata-Martinez et al, 2018). However, the percentage of acrosome reacting cells (~10%, Harper et al., 2008; Sánchez-Cárdenas et al., 2014; Mata-Martinez et al, 2018) is much less than the proportion of cells that respond to P4 but do not display intracellular calcium oscillations (≥60%, Harper et al., 2004; Kelly et al., 2018; Mata-Martinez et al, 2018). A possible explanation is that P4 (and follicular fluid) has a priming role for zona pellucida-induced acrosome induction (Schuffner et al., 2002).

Therefore, the evidence from physiological and pharmacological studies supports a substantive role of CatSper in human sperm function. However, pharmacological intervention to interrogate the role of CatSper in human sperm cell function is complicated by the curious ligand sensitivity of this channel. A wide variety of small organic molecules activate the channel by mechanisms which mimic that of P4 or PGE1 (Brenker et al., 2012; Tavares et al., 2013; Schiffer et al., 2014; Rehfeld et al., 2016; Martins da Silva et al., 2017), and ICatSper is blocked by a bewildering array of chemically unrelated compounds (Brenker et al., 2014; Mansell et al., 2014; He et al., 2016; Mannowetz et al., 2017). Indeed, antagonists that are used to interrogate CatSper function (NNC 55-0396, mibefradil, MDL12330A) also show an inhibitory effect on the K⁺ current (Lishko et al., 2011; Strunker et al., 2011; Brenker et al., 2012, 2014; Rennhack et al., 2018). Remarkably, NNC 55-0396 and mibefradil, two compounds that have been shown to block current through CatSper, can elevate intracellular pH, increase $[Ca^{2+}]i$ and induce the acrosome reaction in human and mouse sperm (Chavez et al., 2018). Data from experiments in which these blockers are used to target CatSper must be interpreted cautiously. To definitively answer questions on CatSper function, studies must be undertaken using sperm from natural CatSper 'knock-out' men.

Evidence for and consequences of impaired CatSper function in human sperm

Unlike in the mouse, the functional significance of human CatSper cannot be tested by genetic manipulation. However, screening of men attending for infertility treatment may reveal the occurrence of 'natural knockouts' that affect sperm and/or male fertility. In fact, it has been known for some time that failed or significantly impaired $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ responses to P4 are prevalent in sperm used for IVF and ICSI (Falsetti et al., 1993; Krausz et al., 1995, 1996), though the significance of this with regard to CatSper function has only recently been recognized (Alasmari et al., 2013b; Tamburrino et al., 2014, 2015; Marchiani et al., 2017; Luo et al., 2019). Only the application of patch clamp electrophysiology, in a limited number of cases, has definitely answered whether P4-insensitive sperm lack I_{CatSper}. The first description of CatSper null sperm was that from three brothers who had a complex medical history of congenital dyserythropoietic anemia type 1, deafness and infertility (Avidan et al., 2003). In addition to the causative mutation for congenital dyserythropoietic anemia type I, the men were also homozygous for an ${\sim}70~{\rm kb}$ deletion of the proximal copy of a 106 kb tandem repeat on chromosome 15g15 affecting four genes, including CATSPER2. Semen parameters were abnormal as the men have asthenoteratozoospermia. However, the absence of I_{CatSper} was subsequently confirmed using sperm from one of the affected men (Avidan et al., 2003; Smith et al., 2013). Similar clinical cases of men with infertility and differing degrees of hearing impairment from three Iranian families were reported (Zhang et al., 2007). Although the chromosomal breakpoints differed between families, they shared a common homozygous autosomal recessive contiguous gene deletion affecting an \sim 100 kb region on chromosome 15q15 that included CATSPER2. Semen parameters were consistent with asthenoteratozoospermia (Zhang et al., 2007). Avenarius et al. (2009) reported non-syndromic male infertility from two Iranian families who carried two separate insertion mutations (c.539-540insT and c.948-949insATGGC) in CATSPER1 that are predicted to lead to frameshifts and premature stop codons (p.Lys180LysfsX8 and p.Asp317MetfsX18). Semen parameters were again consistent with asthenoteratozoospermia (Avenarius et al., 2009). However, interpretation of the role of CatSper in male fertility from such studies is confounded by coexisting defects in spermatogenesis and other issues that potentially contribute to fertilization failure. An indirect method of identifying patients with CatSper-null sperm is to use the P4-induced [Ca²⁺]; response to screen sperm from patients undergoing ART (either on the day of treatment or following failed/low fertilization) followed by patch clamp analysis. Using this approach, two cases were observed where sperm failed completely to respond to P4, and IVF was simultaneously affected by failed fertilization (Williams et al., 2015). Sperm from Patient I showed no $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ response to P4 on two separate occasions and using electrophysiology I_{CatSper} was confirmed to be absent. Exome analysis did not reveal any loss of function mutations in CatSper subunit loci nor in any other genes known to be associated with failed fertilization in male mouse models (Williams et al., 2015). However, following the discovery of CATSPER EPSILON and ZETA, exome sequences for patient I were re-interrogated, revealing a homozygous 6-base pair microdeletion in exon 18 of CATSPER EPSILON (Brown et al., 2018; Fig. 2A). Sperm from patient 2 was studied on the day of treatment and P4 elicited no $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ and zero out of nine eggs were fertilized. Intriguingly, however, when sperm from this patient was studied 7 months later (on the day of ICSI treatment) P4 elicited a normal increase in $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ and fertilization was achieved. In stark contrast to mouse CatSper-null sperm, there were no gross abnormalities in sperm motility in samples that were refractory to P4 although in these cases P4 did not stimulate penetration into viscous



Figure 2 Observations from studies of CatSper-null human sperm. A. A diagrammatic summary of our findings from the study of patient 1 in Brown et al. (2018). (a) A microdeletion in exon 18 of the CatSper auxiliary subunit epsilon gene (*CATSPER EPSILON*) is associated with loss of CatSper function in sperm, which results in infertility. Patient 1 is homozygous for a 6-base pair in frame deletion in exon 18 of *CATSPER EPSILON*, which results in a loss of Methionine799 and Alanine800 in the putative extracellular domain of CATSPER EPSILON protein. This results in production of $I_{CatSper}$ -null sperm, which do not have any overt signs of sperm dysfunction (sperm concentration and motility were normal). (b) P4 fails to elicit an increase in [Ca²⁺]_i (upper panel) in cell populations and $I_{CatSper}$ was confirmed to be absent by electrophysiology (lower panel). Data are those presented previously (Williams *et al.*, 2015). (c) The consequence of loss of CatSper function is failed fertilization (0 out of 9 eggs inseminated) at IVF. **B**. Questions and answers regarding human sperm function that lack functional CatSper. $I_{CatSper}$ -null human sperm cannot fertilize at IVF. From our study (using cells from the same sperm population that failed IVF), we demonstrate that P4 could not induce an increase in [Ca²⁺]_i or increase penetration into viscous media above basal levels (red). The number of cells exhibiting hyperactivation was within a normal range and could be boosted by treatment with 4-aminopyridine (4-AP). Molecular and cellular impairment that may arise due to CatSper dysfunction may include abnormal tyr/ser/thr-phosphorylation, deficiency of adaptive motility patterns, loss of zona/egg binding and failure of the acrosome reaction (amber), as suggested by Luo et al. (2019).

media, thus demonstrating physiological impairment. Hyperactivation induced by pharmacological mobilization of Ca²⁺ from intracellular stores was normal in sperm cell samples from both patients (Williams et al., 2015). Recently, Luo et al. (2019) described a case of a novel copy number variant in 15q15 (deafness–infertility locus), which resulted in a heterozygous ~55Kb deletion causing loss of entire CATSPER2. Intriguingly, semen parameters were normal but I_{CatSper} was absent and sperm function was impacted as reported previously for the CATSPER EPSILON deletion (Brown et al., 2018). The reason for the profound effect of the heterozygous deletion remains to be established but may be related to mutations in additional gene regulatory elements (Luo et al., 2019).

These studies suggest that CatSper is required for fertilization success in humans and that lesions in CatSper function/expression can arise because of genetic and/or channel biogenesis defects during spermatogenesis, which in some cases may be transient. Indeed, we also reported (and have subsequently observed one other case) an episodic loss of the P4-induced $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ signal in sperm from a donor. Moreover, CatSper may be critical for transit through the female tract to the site of fertilization (Suarez et al., 2008) as has been definitively shown in mouse where CatSper is necessary for transition from the uterus into the oviduct (Chung et al., 2014). However, the exact nature of functional deficiencies in CatSper-null human sperm remains to be conclusively established (Fig. 2B). In order to develop strategies to rescue function, it is fundamentally important to understand channel

biogenesis, the role of intracellular Ca^{2+} stores and the contributions to sperm function of agonists, in addition to P4, that elevate $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ (Morales et *al.*, 2000; Brown et *al.*, 2018).

The sperm potassium channel

The discovery and importance for fertilization

Potassium channels play an integral role in setting and restoring cell membrane potential (Vm) and, in doing so, influencing the activity of voltage-sensitive ion channels. Using voltage-sensitive dyes, it has been calculated that the Vm of non-capacitated human spermatozoa is \sim -40 mV (Linares-Hernández et al., 1998) and that capacitation induces a negative shift in Vm (hyperpolarization) to \sim -60/-70 mV (Patrat et al., 2002). Early studies into the effects of elevating extracellular K^+ concentration (to shift E_K to more positive values) on human sperm function give an insight into the consequences of membrane potential changes. Increasing extracellular K⁺ from standard levels (typically \approx 5 mM) to concentrations reported in tubular fluid (25– 30 mM, Borland et al., 1980) induces an increase in [Ca²⁺]_i in noncapacitated and capacitated cells that is further potentiated by P4 (Linares-Hernández et al., 1998; Kumar et al., 2000) and increases the percentage of acrosome reacted sperm (Roblero et al., 1988). Thus K⁺ channel activity may regulate sperm function indirectly through

an increase of $[Ca^{2+}]_i$. Attempts to identify the K⁺ channel type(s) by pharmacological assessment have been hampered by the poor selectivity of the available reagents and, as a consequence, a number of candidates have been suggested (see for example, Yeung and Cooper, 2001; Barfield *et al.*, 2005). Similarly, several different K⁺ channel families have been immunolocalized to testis and/or mature sperm (Salvatore *et al.*, 1999; Jacob *et al.*, 2000; Munoz-Garay *et al.*, 2001; Yeung and Cooper, 2001; Acevedo *et al.*, 2006; Barfield *et al.*, 2005; Yi *et al.*, 2011). However, recent studies using patch clamp electrophysiology and genetically modified mouse models have made significant progress in determining the molecular nature of the sperm K⁺ conductance.

The characteristics and function of the human sperm potassium channel

The biophysical characteristics of the sperm K^+ conductance were first described using mouse sperm under whole-cell patch clamp conditions. Alkalinisation activates a pH- and voltage-sensitive outwardly rectifying K^+ current (I_{KSper}) in the principle piece to cause rapid hyperpolarization of the membrane potential (Navarro et al., 2007; MartÍnez-López et al., 2009). Electrophysiological studies of sperm from normal and genetically modified mice confirmed that the pore forming subunit Slo3 (KCNUI) is present in the principle piece and constitutes the K⁺ channel responsible for mouse IKSper and is necessary for fertility. Mutant male mice are infertile and their sperm give very poor fertilization rates at IVF (Santi et al., 2010; Zeng et al., 2011). However, the voltage sensitivity of heterologously expressed SLO3 channels is different to that of IKsper, suggesting that an additional regulatory component is present in sperm (Zhang et al., 2006; Navarro et al., 2007). Only by coexpression with the auxiliary subunit leucine-rich repeat-containing 52 (LRRC52) do the biophysical characteristics of expressed mouse Slo3 closely resemble those of native mouse I_{KSper.} LRRC52 is necessary in order to permit the channel to activate at physiologically relevant voltages and pH values (Yang et al., 2011; Leonetti et al., 2012; Zeng et al., 2015). The voltage sensitivity of I_{KSper} in sperm from LRRC52-null mice is severely reduced, which causes male sub-fertility and low IVF success rates (Zeng et al., 2015). Thus, the normal fertilizing potential of mouse sperm is dependent upon expression of the heteromeric K⁺ channel SLO3/LRRC52, which permits pH regulation of Vm.

In sharp contrast, human I_{KSper} is regulated by $[\text{Ca}^{2+}]_i,$ only relatively weakly activated by alkalinisation and blocked by high concentrations (\approx 30 µM) of P4 (Mannowetz et al., 2013; Brenker et al., 2014; Mansell et al., 2014). Determining the nature of the K⁺ conductance in human sperm has not been without controversy. As in the mouse, heterologous co-expression of human SLO3 and LRRC52 results in currents that display similar [Ca²⁺]_i dependence, P4 sensitivity and singlechannel conductance to native human sperm K⁺ current (Brenker et al., 2014), suggesting that SLO3 is the mediator of human I_{KSper} (Brenker et al., 2014; Mansell et al., 2014). However, based mainly on the pharmacological profile, Mannowetz et al. (2013) suggested that the Ca²⁺-activated Big Potassium (BK) channel SLO1, not SLO3, is the K⁺ channel in human sperm. Lopez-Gonzalez et al. (2014) used a voltage-sensitive dye to study the effects of pharmacological manipulation of Vm and concluded that both SLO1 and SLO3 contribute to capacitation-mediated hyperpolarization. The authors suggested that a combination of SLO1 and SLO3 channels may underlie capacitation-associated hyperpolarization or even that SLO1 and SLO3 subunits may form heterotetramers with a distinct pharmacological profile. Although proteomic evidence suggests that SLO3 rather than Slo1 is the primary K⁺ channel subunit expressed in human sperm (Wang *et al.*, 2013; Brenker *et al.*, 2014), patients with loss of SLO3 function must be studied in order definitively to answer questions on the composition of the human sperm potassium channel.

Human I_{Ksper} is Ca^{2+} -sensitive (see above) and P4 can elevate $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ to a level sufficient to potentiate I_{KSper} . Reciprocally, activation of I_{KSper} hyperpolarizes Vm that may reduce CatSper opening, suggesting a connection between activity of CatSper and regulation of membrane potential (Brenker et al., 2014). As high concentrations of P4 inhibit I_{KSper} , it has been proposed that in the outer vestments of the cumulus-oocyte-complex high P4 levels cause hyperactivation of sperm motility by a combination of $I_{CatSper}$ activation and I_{KSper} block (Mannowetz et al., 2013).

Evidence for and consequences of impaired potassium channel function in human sperm

Patch clamp electrophysiological analysis is the only direct way to study I_{KSper}. Electrophysiological screening for K⁺ conductance abnormalities in sperm from patients who were attending for treatment, or had previously failed ART, suggested that \sim 10% of patients had sperm that exhibited completely depolarized Vm (≥ 0 mV), which was caused either by negligible I_{KSper} or enhanced inward conductance (Brown et al., 2016). Despite normal CatSper function (P4-induced [Ca²⁺]_i increase, viscous media penetration and motility kinematics were normal), samples where sperm exhibited these abnormalities were significantly more likely to achieve 'poor' levels of fertilization (<25% fertilization in cycles with four or more metaphase II oocytes) than those with a more negative membrane potential. Exome analysis of one patient (patient D) whose cells had a stable lesion in outward conductance, did not reveal any causative mutations. This study reveals that abnormalities of K⁺ conductance and/or Vm regulation are both common and complex, and that fertilization potential of affected cells is severely diminished (Brown et al., 2016). However, the exact nature of the impairment of function remains unknown and is an essential aspect of future investigations.

Other ion channels in human sperm

Using whole-cell patch clamp electrophysiology, recordings of several other channels in human sperm have also been reported in the literature. Under conditions of an outward proton gradient, human sperm are shown to possess a depolarization-activated proton conductance through HvI ion channels, which are localized to the principal piece (Lishko *et al.*, 2010). These currents (I_{HSper}) are elevated in capacitated cells and are potentiated by the endocannabinoid anandamide but blocked by Zn²⁺. The robust currents seen in human sperm contrast sharply with the extremely limited ability of mouse sperm to conduct protons. In human sperm, activation of HvI is proposed to facilitate capacitation through H⁺ efflux, which elevates pH_i and activates CatSper conductance. Therefore, functionally, HvI activity is permissive for development of hyperactivated motility, enhanced flagellar rotation and the acrosome reaction (Lishko *et al.*, 2010;

Miller et al., 2018; Zhao et al., 2018). Additionally, the alkalinisation of sperm intracellular pH is essential for numerous other processes (Nishigaki et al., 2014). Super-resolution imaging has demonstrated that HvI channels are arranged asymmetrically along the length of the principal piece in bilateral longitudinal lines in human sperm (Miller et al., 2018). However, the nature of the structure and function of mature HvI in human sperm or during spermatogenesis is unresolved as the cells express full length and N-terminal truncated (HVISPER) proteins (Berger et al., 2017) and, *in vitro*, these proteins can form homodimers or HVI/HVISPER heterodimers (Berger et al., 2017).

Activity of calcium-dependent chloride channels (CaCC) has been recorded using patch clamp electrophysiology in human sperm. This current has properties that closely resemble heterologously expressed TMEM16A CaCC. Inhibition of CaCC effectively reduces the acrosome reaction induced by solubilized recombinant zona pellucida 3 (ZP3) protein (Orta *et al.*, 2012). Although estimations of intracellular [Cl⁻] varied considerably, (41–69 mM; Garcia and Meizel, 1999), calculated values for E_{Cl} were positive with respect to Vm of capacitated cells, such that opening of these channels will cause depolarization of the cell. In contrast, Brenker et al. (2014) did not find evidence of a Ca²⁺-sensitive chloride channel.

Cystic fibrosis transmembrane regulator (CFTR) is a protein kinase A (PKA)-activated anion channel that is localized to the equatorial segment of the sperm head in human and mouse (Xu et al., 2007; Li et al., 2012). Electrophysiological evidence has been presented for CFTR in mouse (Figueiras-Fierro et al., 2013) but not in human sperm. Pharmacological inhibition of CFTR in human sperm using the selective inhibitor inh-172 reduces hyperactivation, the ZP3-induced acrosome reaction and cell penetration of zona-free hamster eggs (Li et al., 2010; Puga Molina et al., 2017). These effects have been attributed to reduced bicarbonate ion entry and lower soluble adenylate cyclase activity (Puga Molina et al., 2017) that manifest as reduced sperm cAMP levels and low PKA activity. Consequently, capacitation-associated events are reduced as demonstrated by the inhibition of total protein tyrosine-phosphorylation (a general marker of capacitation) and intracellular alkalinisation (Puga Molina et al., 2017). Evidence from mouse experiments supports a role for CFTR in male fecundity as CFTR heterozygous male mice exhibit reduced fertility in vivo and in vitro (Xu et al., 2007). Studying the effect of CFTR mutations on human sperm fertilizing capacity is complicated due to the primary cause of infertility in upwards of 95% of affected men being congenital bilateral absence of the vas deferens (CBAVD; Chen et al., 2012; de Souza et al., 2018). However, a high frequency of CFTR mutations have been found in non-CBAVD males that are associated with azoospermia, oligozoospermia and oligoasthenozoospermia (Kanavakis et al., 1998; Stuppia et al., 2005; Schulz et al., 2006; Tamburino et al., 2008; Li et al., 2010; Tomaiuolo et al., 2011). Therefore, although complete failure of spermatogenesis is not necessarily a consequence of CFTR mutations (Stuhrmann and Dörk, 2000), they may impair optimal sperm production and maturation (Chen et al., 2012). However, as there are over 2000 CFTR mutations classified into at least six classes depending on the severity of CFTR protein defect (Marson et al., 2016; http://www.genet.sickkids.on.ca/cftr), any consideration of the effect of CFTR mutations on spermatogenesis and sperm function must be considered in the context of the type and zygosity of mutation. For example, individuals with the 3849+10 kb C-T mutation exhibit a mild cystic fibrosis phenotype due to the production of mutant and wildtype CFTR mRNA (Chiba-Falek et al., 1999) and there is a case report of a homozygous affected man being fertile (Dreyfus et al., 1996). Interestingly, IVF success has been reported using surgically retrieved sperm from men with CBAVD caused by the most severe class of CFTR mutation (Patrizio et al., 1993; Schlegel et al., 1995), suggesting CFTR is not an absolute requirement for IVF success. Despite the poor IVF rate, ICSI is a more effective treatment option for men with CFTR mutations and CBAVD (Schlegel et al., 1995). A possible explanation for the IVF success of sperm with an assumed absence of CFTRmediated bicarbonate entry in these cases is the activity of SLC268A anion transporter. It is expressed in human sperm and is proposed to interact with CFTR to facilitate bicarbonate entry, capacitation and normal sperm motility (Chen et al., 2012; Rode et al., 2012; Dirami et al., 2013). If SLC268A is expressed in sperm from men with cystic fibrosis, it may partially compensate for the lack of CFTR during IVF. Considering the current evidence, there are clearly many unanswered questions regarding the role of CFTR in human sperm fertilization competence and undertaking detailed systematic studies using sperm from men with known cystic fibrosis mutations would be necessary to help answer them.

Transient receptor potential (TRP) channels form a large family of Ca^{2+} conducting channels that are sensitive to a wide variety of stimuli. TRPVI, TRPV4 and TRPM8 are immunolocalized to the head and flagella of human sperm (De Blas et al., 2009; De Toni et al., 2016; Kumar et al., 2016). Agonist activation of these channels results in an increase in [Ca²⁺]_i. Menthol (which opens TRPM8) induces the acrosome reaction in human sperm, although does not affect motility (De Blas et al., 2009). However, it has been noted that mibefradil and NNC55-0396 block the menthol-induced increase in [Ca²⁺]_i, suggesting menthol may activate CatSper (Brenker et al., 2012). TRPVI is proposed to mediate human sperm thermotaxis (De Toni et al., 2016). TRP channels may also contribute to capacitative calcium entry (CCE, Blackmore, 1993). CCE involves the influx of extracellular calcium through plasma membrane ion channels that is triggered following the depletion of intracellular calcium stores. Stromal interaction molecule (STIM) and calcium release-activated calcium channel protein (ORAI) are key mediators of CCE in somatic cells and are also present in human sperm. Upon depletion of Ca²⁺ from intracellular stores, STIMI translocates to the plasma membrane and activates ORAI causing a Ca²⁺ influx which is then used to refill the stores through the action of the sarcoendoplasmic reticulum calcium ion transport ATPase (SERCA) (see Correia et al., 2015 for a detailed discussion of the regulation of sperm intracellular Ca²⁺ stores). Several studies provide evidence for CCE in human sperm (Lefievre et al., 2012), which may explain why hyperactivation induced by 4-aminopyridine (4AP) to mobilize calcium release from intracellular stores was normal in CatSper-null sperm (Williams et al., 2015). Interestingly, TRPV4 is proposed to carry a depolarizing Na⁺-conductance 'DSper' that facilitates calcium entry via CatSper/HVI activation (Mundt et al., 2018; Fig. 1B). However, of note is that in the absence of CatSper there is no residual conductance (Smith et al., 2013; Williams et al., 2015; Luo et al., 2019). The explanation for this is unclear but if membrane expression of TRPV4 is CatSper-dependent, it may form part of a CatSper-dependent protein complex domain.

Finally, voltage-gated sodium channels (Na $_v$ 1.2, 1.4-1.9) are also proposed to have a functional role in human sperm. They are immunolocalized to different regions of human sperm, and pharma-

cological activation has a positive effect on motility (Pinto *et al.*, 2009; Cejudo-Roman *et al.*, 2013). However, there is currently no supportive electrophysiological evidence for their expression.

To date, reports of definitive abnormalities of patient sperm ion channels are limited to those affecting $I_{CatSper}$ and I_{KSper} ; therefore, many questions remain regarding the role(s) of these other channels in sperm function and fertilization and the incidence and consequences of their malfunction.

Molecular and functional deficits of human sperm with channel impairments

lon channel expression requires the successful co-ordination of a complex series of events involving transcriptional regulation, post-translational quality control, assembly, trafficking and insertion into the plasma membrane. Sequestration is governed by internalization, recycling and degradation processes. Therefore, disruption of the regulatory molecules involved in these events can culminate in defective channel expression (see Curran and Mohler, 2015 and Onwuli and Beltran-Alvarez, 2016 for examples affecting other ion channel families).

Transcription and translation

The available evidence indicates that the dynamics of channel expression during spermatogenesis are highly complex and observations are overwhelmingly restricted to examples from mouse experiments. Transcriptional control regions and transcription factors that influence CATSPER I promoter activity in vitro have been described (Mata-Rocha et al., 2013, 2014; Olivares et al., 2018; Oviedo et al., 2018). CatSper subunit gene expression in mice is developmentally regulated. Catsper2, delta and epsilon messenger RNAs are readily detected first at postnatal day 17-18 (Li et al., 2007; Chung et al., 2011, 2017) with significant levels of expression of Catsper zeta, 3, 4 and 1 delayed until postnatal day 20-25 (lin et al., 2005; Li et al., 2007; Chung et al., 2017). Efcab9 transcript expression is notably delayed with significant levels appearing between 23 and 49 days post-partum (Hwang et al., 2019). Parallels in the timing of expression of mouse and human Catsper 1 and 3 transcripts around the mid-spermatid stage have been observed (Hermann et al., 2018). The reasons for, and regulation of, these temporal differences are unknown but failure to activate transcription of one subunit can prevent channel expression. For example, Catsper $delta^{-/-}$ mice are infertile due to the loss of channel expression in sperm with significantly reduced CATSPER 1 protein levels reported in testis suggesting that the early expression of the DELTA subunit may help to stabilize the channel complex. In contrast, CATSPER EPSILON, but not CATSPER 3, 4, DELTA, BETA and GAMMA, protein is significantly reduced in Catsper $I^{-/-}$ testis (Chung et al., 2011, 2017). Indeed, CATSPER BETA and GAMMA form stable complexes in the testis of this mutant mouse strain although this does not prevent the total loss of all protein subunits from mature sperm. As discussed, functional CatSper expression in mouse sperm is contingent upon expression of all four pore-forming alpha-subunits. However, sperm from Catsper zeta^{-/-} and Efcab9^{-/-} mice express all other CatSper subunits, but at significantly reduced levels, which is reflected by reduced $I_{CatSper}$ in these cells. Interestingly, mRNA and protein levels are unaffected in the testes of Catsper zeta^{-/-} mice suggesting that CATSPER ZETA prevents post-translational errors in channel assembly, the nature of which remain elusive. Intriguingly, CATSPER ZETA expression in mature sperm exhibits an interdependence with EFCAB9 expression (Chung et al., 2017; Hwang et al., 2019). It will be important to determine if a similar error contributes to sub-optimal P4-induced [Ca²⁺]_i responses in sperm from infertile patients (Alasmari et al., 2013a; Kelly et al., 2018). In the case of patient 1 described in Williams et al. (2015), we have suggested that loss of functional expression of CatSper may occur due to the mutant transcript being subjected to nonsense-mediated decay. Alternatively, if translation proceeds, a highly conserved methionine and alanine will be absent in the putative extracellular domain of CATSPER EPSILON. This is predicted to be highly deleterious to its conformation and to channel assembly (Brown et al., 2018; Fig. 2). To understand human CatSper assembly and its failure in some men, we must continue to endeavor to understand the expression and assembly of all subunits during spermatogenesis.

In mice, messenger RNAs for SLO3 subunits and for the auxiliary subunit LRRC52 appear from around postnatal day 25. Slo3^{-/-} mice have normal mRNA expression for LRRC52 but levels of the protein in testis are significantly reduced (compared to wild-type) and undetectable in sperm. In contrast, LRRC52^{-/-} animals express SLO3 in sperm (Zheng et al., 2015). These data indicate that SLO3 is necessary for the stabilization and expression of its auxiliary subunit. In cases where sperm lack IKSper, it will be important to determine if both channel subunits are absent or if channels composed of SLO3 only are present which exhibit severely reduced voltage sensitivity in the absence of LRRC52. For example, in the study of K⁺ channel function in infertile men (Brown et al., 2016), sperm from patient D had negligible K⁺ conductance at physiological voltages, but some outward current was detectable when very high voltages (>100 mV) were imposed on the cells (Brown, unpublished observation; Fig. 3). However, at these voltages the observed outward currents might have been carried by CatSper (Brenker et al., 2014).

In addition to $I_{\mbox{CatSper}}$ and $I_{\mbox{KSper}}$ that have been well characterized directly by whole-cell patch clamp, data from immunolocalization and pharmacological studies suggest that a number of other Ca²⁺ and K⁺ channels are expressed in male germ cells. These channels may be regulated in such a way that their activity cannot be detected in patch clamp studies (Publicover and Barratt, 2012), or they may be active only during spermatogenesis, such that antibodies can detect epitopes in mature sperm despite the fact that the channel is no longer functional. For instance, voltage-activated Ca²⁺ channel currents have been recorded in mouse Catsper1-/- spermatocytes and mature sperm show strong positive immunoreactivity for these channels (Arnoult et al., 1996; Goodwin et al., 1997; Serrano et al., 1999; Westenbroek and Babcock, 1999; Wennemuth, et al., 2000; Ren et al., 2001; Carlson et al., 2003). Similarly, KATP and inwardly rectifying K⁺ currents have been recorded in mouse spermatocytes, with positive immunoreactivity for both channels reported in mature sperm (Muñoz-Garay et al., 2001; Acevedo et al., 2006). Intriguingly, Gong et al. (2002) suggested that temporal changes occur in the K⁺ channel population of rat spermatocytes. We previously reported that sperm from one patient, who achieved low fertilization rate at IVF, were highly depolarized and exhibited an unusually large inward (probably Na⁺) current (Brown et al., 2016). Possible sources of this aberrant depolarizing current include the persistence of a sodium channel expressed in immature



Figure 3 Electrophysiological recordings from sperm from a donor and patient D (lacking I _{KSper}). Consecutive electrophysiological recordings of a spermatozoon from a donor and patient D to ramp (–92 to 68mV, **A**) and stepped (–52 to 68 mV, **B** and **C**) depolarization under quasi-physiological ion conditions (see Brown et al., 2016). Both depolarization protocols induce a robust outward current in the donor cell. In contrast, only under extreme depolarization (>98 mV) is outward current seen in the cell from patient D (C).

germ cells that is normally down regulated in the mature sperm, abnormal Na⁺ conductance through CatSper and/or K⁺ channel (both of which are permeable to Na⁺), or even activity of TRPV4, newly identified as the depolarizing current DSper (Mundt *et al.*, 2018; see above). Therefore, to enlighten understanding of the nature of channel abnormalities, future work should involve investigation into channel localization and assembly using detailed comparative proteomics combined with high quality co-localization, imaging and electrophysiology.

Plasma membrane organization (trafficking/insertion and processing)

Cases of abnormalities in sperm ion channels that are transient or independent of deleterious channel exon mutations may reflect defects in the complex regulation of channel expression that must occur during spermatogenesis, epididymal storage and maturation or capacitation in the mature sperm. The potential for such abnormalities was recently demonstrated in a study by Chung et al. (2014) that used highresolution imaging to give a novel insight into the dynamic changes that occur in the organization of CatSper in the sperm flagellum. The 3D-stochastic optical reconstruction microscopy (STORM) imaging of mouse sperm revealed that CatSper are present in a highly organized continuous quadrilateral spatial arrangement down the length of the principal piece. By imaging sperm from wild-type and Catsper $I^{-/-}$ mice using STORM, it was elegantly demonstrated that four linear 'racing stripe' CatSper domains co-localize with regulatory proteins of calcium signalling and spatiotemporally restrict the tyrosine phosphorylation (P-Tyr) of flagellar proteins that is necessary for development of hyperactivated motility. The P-Tyr levels in mutant sperm were unregulated, resulting in elevated phosphorylation of a wide range of proteins, including 11 structural proteins (five of which were axonemal), potentially providing molecular insight into the impaired motility of CatSper null sperm. In wild-type cells the organization of the CatSper domain was intact in cells exhibiting hyperactivated motility. However,

a remarkably heterogeneous pattern of channel subunit and regulatory molecule delocalization was observed in non-hyperactivated cells during capacitation, to the extent that these domains became degraded in some cells. Therefore, the role and regulation of endocytosis of ion channels and the sperm proteasome on channel expression merit close examination. In both Catsper zeta and Efcab9-null mouse sperm, which exhibit lower channel protein expression and consequently lower $\mathsf{I}_{\mathsf{CatSper}},$ the overall quadrilateral banding is maintained but the linear domains become disrupted (Chung et al., 2017; Hwang et al., 2019). Improved resolution of imaging of the CatSper domains suggests that each domain consists of two parallel rows of continuously expressed CatSper and loss of EFCAB9 expression results in four single row domains consisting of CatSper expressed discontinuously (Hwang et al., 2019). EFCAB9 and CATSPER ZETA are notable not only because of their interdependence of expression but also their postulated functional interaction and importance for appropriate channel assembly and function. Although the stoichiometry remains unknown, CATSPER ZETA-EFCAB9 is proposed to form a pH and intracellular Ca²⁺-sensitive complex, which regulates CatSper conductance in mouse sperm. At low (pH 6) intracellular pH, the complex limits channel activity. However, alkalinisation weakens their interaction to permit calcium ion influx that can bind to Ca²⁺-binding domains of EFCAB9. This further weakens its interaction with CATSPER ZETA to maximize CatSper conductance (Hwang et al., 2019). If this mechanism is paralleled in human sperm, the interplay between channel subunits and plasma membrane is likely to be more complex given that P4 or PGEI is required to potentiate CatSper conductance. It will be important to determine if K^+ channels are part of a regulatory complex involving CatSper, particularly given the probable interplay between these channels and evidence that loss of CatSper in human sperm may have a negative and positive impact on IKSper and IHSper density, respectively (Smith et al., 2013). How such a specific spatial organization of CatSper is achieved is an important question that must be addressed,

particularly because human CatSper is organized in the same distinct pattern (Chung et al., 2017). A strategy combining imaging, proteomics and electrophysiological analysis of sperm from patients undergoing IVF will begin to address the importance of this for human fertilization.

A tantalizing insight into the processing of CatSper by the male tract was achieved by comparing $\mathsf{I}_{\mathsf{CatSper}}$ in ejaculated sperm with surgically retrieved sperm from the epididymis and testis. Basal and P4-induced currents were comparable but CatSper desensitization by repeated challenge with a saturating concentration of P4 occurred only in ejaculated sperm (Smith et al., 2013). The reason for this is unknown but, given the apparent complexity of the mechanism of the P4-mediated calcium influx, indirect regulation of CatSper (Mannowetz et al., 2017) cannot be excluded. Indeed, beyond the characterization of P4 and PGE responses, the regulation of CatSper is largely unknown. For example, PKA is proposed to regulate mouse CatSper but it is not clear if this is due to phosphorylation of the channel (Orta et al., 2018). Cysteine-rich secretory proteins (CRISP) I and 2 are necessary for optimal fertilization in mouse through divergent mechanisms that may involve CatSper. CRISP1 regulates sperm orientation and hyperactivation possibly through inhibitory actions on TRPM8 and CatSper (Ernesto et al., 2015). IVF success is lower with cumulusoocyte-complexes from Crisp1-null mice due to the loss of expression of CRISPI from cumulus cells (Ernesto et al., 2015) suggesting an extracellular-mediated mode of CatSper regulation. In contrast, heterologous mouse CRISP2 interacts with CATSPERI in vitro (Lim et al., 2019). Crisp2-deficient male mice are subfertile with sperm that have an impaired flagellar beat due to a stiff mid-piece. However, it is not established if calcium signalling is altered in mutant sperm and, if so, whether it is caused by an effect on CatSper function and/or regulation of intracellular stores (Lim et al., 2019). However, given the association of reduced CRISP2 expression and asthenozoospermia (Zhou et al., 2015, 2017) its potential role in human $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ regulation merits further study.

Finally, consideration should be given to the consequences of environmental disruption on the male reproductive tract. For example, two of the patients identified in Brown et al. (2018), who exhibited loss of I_{KSper} (patients D and K) had undergone a vasovasostomy. While this observation could be coincidental, particularly given the pregnancy rate achieved following vasectomy reversal (Majzoub *et al.*, 2017), the process of channel biogenesis is currently poorly understood and thus the implications of local trauma are genuinely unknown. Vasectomy is documented to impact on the epididymal environment, such as changes in gene expression (and potentially sperm fertilizing capacity) (Sullivan and Mieusset, 2016), and thus the effects on channel development during passage of the male tract require further investigation.

The nature of human sperm dysfunction in sperm with ion channel defects (molecular and physiological)

The effects of ion channel dysfunction on human sperm function are likely to be diverse both in their nature and severity. Clearly, if a lack of CatSper function results in severely impaired adaptive motility, this is likely to have a profound and complete impairment on fertility. The fact that this phenotype is extremely rare is consistent with this conclusion. However, the effects of changes in voltage sensitivity, ion selectivity or agonist sensitivity are less easy to predict. Similarly, the effects of K⁺

conductance may vary widely (Brown et al., 2016) depending on the size and nature of the remaining I_{KSper} and how this affects activity of CatSper and (probably) other ion channels. Similarly, effects on down-stream protein phosphorylation could potentially affect a multitude of interconnected signalling pathways that determine sperm fertilizing capability. Defects may manifest as impairment(s) of motility, reduced or absent binding/interaction with the female tract and the cumulus-oocyte complex or failed acrosome reaction (Luo et al., 2019). These effects, alone or in combination, could explain the failed fertilization at IVF that is characterized by defective $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ responses to P4 in human sperm (Krausz et al., 1995; Williams et al., 2015; Luo et al. 2019).

To fully understand the effects of sperm channel dysfunction on human fertility and develop effective treatments for male infertility, we need to study the activity and function of sperm in the context of the human female tract. However, this is currently impossible. A priority must therefore be the development of experimental models that reconstitute, as closely as possible, the in vivo environment. For example, remarkable work with microfluidic 3D cultures of murine ovarian and human tissues has led to the culture of an ex vivo female reproductive tract model that can mimic a 28-day human menstrual cycle (Xiao et al., 2017). The female tract, through which the sperm must navigate to reach the egg, presents a range of topographical and physiochemical challenges. In vitro experiments demonstrate that sperm motility is adaptive and complex. For example, human sperm preferentially swim along the wall of microchannels (Denissenko et al., 2012) and are observed to exhibit an intermittent 2D motility pattern that is influenced by viscosity (Nosrati et al., 2015) and fluid flow (Zhang et al., 2016). Furthermore, 3D movement patterns are multiform (Su et al., 2012, 2013). Sperm exposed to fluid flow in vitro will swim upstream (rheotaxis), a CatSper-dependent response in mouse sperm that is believed to direct swimming up the oviduct, against the flow of oviductal fluid (Miki and Clapham, 2013; Zhang et al., 2016; Chung et al., 2017). The importance of this in vivo has recently been questioned given the observed isthmus-to-ampulla peristaltic movement of the mouse oviduct and rapid movement of oviductal fluid. It was argued that these, along with the cell's motility, are sufficient for progressing sperm towards the ampulla (Hino and Yanagimachi, 2019). Nevertheless, human sperm are capable of rheotaxis (Kantsler et al., 2014; Bukatin et al., 2015) although in contrast to mouse sperm, it has been proposed to be passive (Zhang et al., 2016) arguing against CatSper involvement. It is possible that sperm participate actively in their navigation, using both thermotaxis (Boryshpolets et al., 2015; De Toni et al., 2018) and chemotaxis (Armon et al., 2014; Perez-Cerezales et al., 2015) to modify their motility and behavior in response to cues from the physically and chemically complex environment of the female tract and cumulus-oocyte complex (Borland et al., 1980; Zhao and Chegini, 1994; Adachi et al., 1995; Tay et al., 1997; Schuel et al., 2002; Aguilar and Reyley, 2005). Moreover, the development of hyperactive motility may assist in the release of sperm after they have bound to the epithelial lining of the tract (Pacey et al., 1995). In vitro studies suggest that ion channels are central to the control of sperm motility and behaviour (Correia et al., 2015).

It is likely that the context in which effects of ion channel function are assessed is critical. For example, in experiments with human follicular fluid (hFF) the concentration of P4 and consequent effects on $I_{CatSper}$ was the primary determinant of the observed effects $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ responses and motility kinematics. However, it appeared that

other components of hFF modulated $[Ca^{2+}]_i$ signalling (Brown et al., 2017). Another interesting observation highlighting the necessity of physiological context was reported following experiments in *Catsper zeta*-null mice. *Catsper zeta*-null male mice show only low levels of fertilization and epididymal CATSPER ZETA-null sperm fail to fertilize *in vitro*. However, when ejaculated sperm retrieved from the uterus were used for IVF, fertilization was partially rescued (Chung et al., 2017). The mechanism of this phenomenon is unknown, nor is it clear if it occurs due to components added in the ejaculate (as suggested to occur in humans, Park et al., 2011) or present in the female tract (see also Li et al., 2015).

Perhaps, the most surprising finding from recent studies of sperm samples from patients that exhibited ion channel dysfunction was that basal motility in cells incubated in capacitating conditions (including the proportion of hyperactivated cells) in both $I_{CatSper}$ and I_{KSper} null sperm was within the normal range (assessed by CASA). However, whereas I_{KSper} null sperm were stimulated by P4 to penetrate viscous medium ($\geq 100\%$ increase compared to control), stimulation of $I_{CatSper}$ null sperm with P4 had no effect (Williams et al., 2015). The implication of this is that either ion channel dysfunction does not impact on basal flagellar motility patterns or that current CASA systems may not be sufficiently discriminatory to detect important differences in flagellar beat and behavior of cells with ion channel lesions. Future experiments must employ advanced methods of flagellar or behavioral analysis and cell tracking (Su et al., 2012, 2013; Brown et al., 2016).

Final perspective

Patch clamp electrophysiology has revolutionized our understanding of ion channel function in both the healthy and dysfunctional spermatozoon. Indeed, from our studies of sperm samples from patients, we hypothesize that loss of $I_{CatSper}$ and I_{KSper} can cause male subfertility. However, identification of causal defects (genetic and non-genetic) and the precise molecular and functional impairments that arise as a consequence, remains a significant but exciting challenge. Development of new technologies is critical, both to illuminate our understanding as well as facilitating progress towards the development of routine diagnostic tests and individualized medicine to advance patient treatment.

Reproductive physiology is shaped by selective processes. During natural fertilization, the male and female tracts assist in preparing (Park et al., 2011; Reilly et al., 2016) and selecting the most viable and, presumably, genetically fit spermatozoa to produce healthy offspring. In contrast, ART uses invasive, in vitro techniques to enable malfunctioning gametes to fertilize the oocyte. A primary aim of research in reproductive medicine should be, where possible, to restore normal gamete function so that these selection mechanisms can operate and fertilization can occur naturally (or as near naturally as possible). This is a major challenge, not least because of our dearth of current understanding (see, for example, De Jonge, 2017). Arguably, significant acceleration and advancement of male reproductive medical research necessitates a concerted international collaborative effort involving all relevant stake holders (D'Hooghe, 2017; Barratt et al., 2018; Brown et al., 2018). This is a huge challenge and perhaps more difficult owing to the fact that our discipline is unique in that diametrically opposed success outcomes are sought for sperm by those seeking assisted conception and those requiring contraception (see Barratt et al., 2018 for an argument for the case for development of a male contraceptive).

However, comprehension of human spermatogenesis, sperm behaviours and fertilization at a molecular level will advance both causes. Here we have argued that understanding the expression and functioning of human sperm ion channels is necessary for the development of improved therapies for male infertility but equally recent studies show that compounds that inhibit $I_{CatSper}$ and I_{KSper} may make effective contraceptives. The sperm-specific nature of $I_{CatSper}$ and I_{KSper} (see Lishko, 2016 for additional examples) makes them particularly suitable targets for compounds that can even be taken by the female, thus circumventing concerns of non-compliance of the man (Glasier *et al.*, 2000).

It is clearly critical to observe and understand the mysteries of sperm *in vivo*. Recent investigations have used transgenic mouse sperm that express fluorescent markers to permit live imaging *in/ex vivo* (Hino et al., 2016; Muro et al., 2016). These studies gave remarkable novel insights into sperm behaviour and we echo the sentiment expressed by Muro et al. (2016) by concluding that what is yet to be discovered about *in vivo* fertilization in humans is currently beyond our imagination but argue that sperm plasma membrane ion channels will play a central role.

Acknowledgement

We acknowledge the work of Monica Visca for her role in creating Figure 2B.

Authors' roles

C.L.R.B. proposed the work. S.G.B. conducted the literature search, wrote the initial draft of the manuscript and prepared the figures. All authors contributed to development and review of the final manuscript.

Funding

This publication was supported by funding from the Medical Research Council (MR/M012492/1) and Chief Scientist Office/NHS research Scotland (TCS/17/28).

Conflict of interest

C.L.R.B. is Editor of RBMO and has received lecturing fees from Merck and Ferring and is on the Scientific Advisory Panel for Ohana BioSciences. C.L.R.B. was chair of the World Health Organization Expert Synthesis Group on Diagnosis of Male infertility (2012–2016). The other authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

Acevedo JJ, Mendoza-Lujambio I, de la Vega-Beltran JL, Trevino CL, Felix R, Darszon A. KATP channels in mouse spermatogenic cells and sperm, and their role in capacitation. *Dev Biol* 2006;**2**:395–405.

Achikanu C, Pendekanti V, Teague R, Publicover S. Effects of pH manipulation, CatSper stimulation and Ca2+-store mobilization on [Ca2+]i and behaviour of human sperm. *Hum Reprod* 2018.

Adachi K, Kurachi H, Adachi H, Imai T, Sakata M, Homma H, Higashiguchi O, Yamamoto T, Miyake A. Menstrual cycle specific expression of epidermal growth factor receptors in human fallopian tube epithelium. *J Endocrinol* 1995;**3**:553–563.

- Aguilar J, Reyley M. The uterine tubal fluid: secretion, composition and biological effects. *Animal Reproduction* 2005;**2**:91–105.
- Aitken RJ, Irvine S, Kelly RW. Significance of intracellular calcium and cyclic adenosine 3',5'-monophosphate in the mechanisms by which prostaglandins influence human sperm function. *J Reprod Fertil* 1986;**2**:451–462.
- Alasmari W, Barratt CL, Publicover SJ, Whalley KM, Foster E, Kay V, Martins da Silva S, Oxenham SK. The clinical significance of calciumsignalling pathways mediating human sperm hyperactivation. *Hum Reprod* 2013a;**4**:866–876.
- Alasmari W, Costello S, Correia J, Oxenham SK, Morris J, Fernandes L, Ramalho-Santos J, Kirkman-Brown J, Michelangeli F, Publicover S et al. Ca2+ signals generated by CatSper and Ca2+ stores regulate different behaviors in human sperm. *J Biol Chem* 2013b;**9**:6248–6258.
- Anand RJ, Kanwar U, Sanyal SN. Calcium channel antagonist verapamil modulates human spermatozoal functions. *Res Exp Med (Berl)* 1994;**3**:165–178.
- Armon L, Ben-Ami I, Ron-El R, Eisenbach M. Human oocyte-derived sperm chemoattractant is a hydrophobic molecule associated with a carrier protein. *Fertil Steril* 2014;**3**:885–890.
- Armon L, Eisenbach M. Behavioral mechanism during human sperm chemotaxis: involvement of hyperactivation. *PLoS One* 2011; **12**:e28359.
- Arnoult C, Cardullo RA, Lemos JR, Florman HM. Activation of mouse sperm T-type Ca2+ channels by adhesion to the egg zona pellucida. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1996;**23**:13004–13009.
- Avenarius MR, Hildebrand MS, Zhang Y, Meyer NC, Smith LL, Kahrizi K, Najmabadi H, Smith RJ. Human male infertility caused by mutations in the CATSPERI channel protein. *Am J Hum Genet* 2009;**4**:505–510.
- Avidan N, Tamary H, Dgany O, Cattan D, Pariente A, Thulliez M, Borot N, Moati L, Barthelme A, Shalmon L et al. CATSPER2, a human autosomal nonsyndromic male infertility gene. Eur J Hum Genet 2003;**7**:497–502.
- Babcock DF, Bosma MM, Battaglia DE, Darszon A. Early persistent activation of sperm K+ channels by the egg peptide speract. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1992;**13**:6001–6005.
- Baldi E, Casano R, Falsetti C, Krausz C, Maggi M, Forti G. Intracellular calcium accumulation and responsiveness to progesterone in capacitating human spermatozoa. *J Androl* 1991;**5**:323–330.
- Barfield JP, Yeung CH, Cooper TG. Characterization of potassium channels involved in volume regulation of human spermatozoa. *Mol Hum Reprod* 2005; **12**:891–897.
- Barratt CLR, Bjorndahl L, De Jonge CJ, Lamb DJ, Osorio Martini F, McLachlan R, Oates RD, van der Poel S, St John B, Sigman M et al. The diagnosis of male infertility: an analysis of the evidence to support the development of global WHO guidance-challenges and future research opportunities. *Hum Reprod Update* 2017;**6**:660–680.
- Barratt CLR, De Jonge CJ, Sharpe RM. 'Man Up': the importance and strategy for placing male reproductive health centre stage in the political and research agenda. *Hum Reprod* 2018;**4**: 541–545.
- Bedu-Addo K, Barratt CL, Kirkman-Brown JC, Publicover SJ. Patterns of [Ca2+](i) mobilization and cell response in human spermatozoa exposed to progesterone. *Dev Biol* 2007; 1:324–332.

- Beltran C, Darszon A, Labarca P, Lievano A. A high-conductance voltage-dependent multistate Ca2+ channel found in sea urchin and mouse spermatozoa. *FEBS Lett* 1994;1:23–26.
- Berger TK, Fussholler DM, Goodwin N, Bonigk W, Muller A, Dokani Khesroshahi N, Brenker C, Wachten D, Krause E, Kaupp UB *et al.* Post-translational cleavage of HvI in human sperm tunes pH- and voltage-dependent gating. *J Physiol* 2017;**5**:1533–1546.
- Bhilawadikar R, Zaveri K, Mukadam L, Naik S, Kamble K, Modi D, Hinduja I. Levels of Tektin 2 and CatSper 2 in normozoospermic and oligoasthenozoospermic men and its association with motility, fertilization rate, embryo quality and pregnancy rate. *J Assist Reprod Genet* 2013;**4**:513–523.
- Blackmore PF. Thapsigargin elevates and potentiates the ability of progesterone to increase intracellular free calcium in human sperm: possible role of perinuclear calcium. *Cell Calcium* 1993;1: 53–60.
- Blackmore PF, Beebe SJ, Danforth DR, Alexander N. Progesterone and 17 alpha-hydroxyprogesterone. Novel stimulators of calcium influx in human sperm. *J Biol Chem* 1990;**3**:1376–1380.
- Blackmore PF, Lattanzio FA. Cell surface localization of a novel nongenomic progesterone receptor on the head of human sperm. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 1991;1:331–336.
- Blackmore PF, Neulen J, Lattanzio F, Beebe SJ. Cell surface-binding sites for progesterone mediate calcium uptake in human sperm. *J Biol Chem* 1991;**28**:18655–18659.
- Borland RM, Biggers JD, Lechene CP, Taymor ML. Elemental composition of fluid in the human fallopian tube. *J Reprod Fertil* 1980; **2**:479–482.
- Boryshpolets S, Perez-Cerezales S, Eisenbach M. Behavioral mechanism of human sperm in thermotaxis: a role for hyperactivation. *Hum Reprod* 2015;**4**:884–892.
- Brenker C, Goodwin N, Weyand I, Kashikar ND, Naruse M, Krahling M, Muller A, Kaupp UB, Strunker T. The CatSper channel: a polymodal chemosensor in human sperm. *EMBO J* 2012;**7**:1654–1665.
- Brenker C, Schiffer C, Wagner IV, Tuttelmann F, Ropke A, Rennhack A, Kaupp UB, Strunker T. Action of steroids and plant triterpenoids on CatSper Ca(2+) channels in human sperm. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2018;**3**:E344–E346.
- Brenker C, Zhou Y, Muller A, Echeverry FA, Trotschel C, Poetsch A, Xia XM, Bonigk W, Lingle CJ, Kaupp UB *et al.* The Ca2+-activated K+ current of human sperm is mediated by Slo3. *Elife* 2014;**3**:e01438.
- Brown SG, Costello S, Kelly MC, Ramalingam M, Drew E, Publicover SJ, Barratt CLR, Da Silva SM. Complex CatSper-dependent and independent [Ca2+]i signalling in human spermatozoa induced by follicular fluid. *Hum Reprod* 2017;**10**:1995–2006.
- Brown SG, Miller MR, Lishko PV, Lester DH, Publicover SJ, Barratt CLR, Martins Da Silva S. Homozygous in-frame deletion in CATSPERE in a man producing spermatozoa with loss of CatSper function and compromised fertilizing capacity. *Hum Reprod* 2018; **10**:1812–1816.
- Brown SG, Publicover SJ, Mansell SA, Lishko PV, Williams HL, Ramalingam M, Wilson SM, Barratt CL, Sutton KA, Da Silva SM. Depolarization of sperm membrane potential is a common feature of men with subfertility and is associated with low fertilization rate at IVF. *Hum Reprod* 2016;**6**:1147–1157.

- Bukatin A, Kukhtevich I, Stoop N, Dunkel J, Kantsler V. Bimodal rheotactic behavior reflects flagellar beat asymmetry in human sperm cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2015;**52**:15904–15909.
- Cai X, Clapham DE. Evolutionary genomics reveals lineage-specific gene loss and rapid evolution of a sperm-specific ion channel complex: CatSpers and CatSperbeta. *PLoS One* 2008;**10**:e3569.
- Cai X, Wang X, Clapham DE. Early evolution of the eukaryotic Ca2+ signaling machinery: conservation of the CatSper channel complex. *Mol Biol Evol* 2014;**10**:2735–2740.
- Calogero AE, Hall J, Fishel S, Green S, Hunter A, D'Agata R. Effects of gamma-aminobutyric acid on human sperm motility and hyperactivation. *Mol Hum Reprod* 1996;**10**:733–738.
- Carlson AE, Westenbroek RE, Quill T, Ren D, Clapham DE, Hille B, Garbers DL, Babcock DF. CatSper I required for evoked Ca2+ entry and control of flagellar function in sperm. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2003;**25**:14864–14868.
- Cejudo-Roman A, Pinto FM, Subiran N, Ravina CG, Fernandez-Sanchez M, Perez-Hernandez N, Perez R, Pacheco A, Irazusta J, Candenas L. The voltage-gated sodium channel nav1.8 is expressed in human sperm. *PLoS One* 2013;**9**:e76084.
- Chavez JC, de la Vega-Beltran JL, Jose O, Torres P, Nishigaki T, Trevino CL, Darszon A. Acrosomal alkalization triggers Ca(2+) release and acrosome reaction in mammalian spermatozoa. *J Cell Physiol* 2018;**6**:4735–4747.
- Chen H, Ruan YC, Xu WM, Chen J, Chan HC. Regulation of male fertility by CFTR and implications in male infertility. *Hum Reprod Update* 2012;**6**:703–713.
- Chiba-Falek O, Parad RB, Kerem E, Kerem B. Variable levels of normal RNA in different fetal organs carrying a cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator splicing mutation. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1999;**6**:1998–2002.
- Chung JJ, Miki K, Kim D, Shim SH, Shi HF, Hwang JY, Cai X, Iseri Y, Zhuang X, Clapham DE. CatSperzeta regulates the structural continuity of sperm Ca(2+) signaling domains and is required for normal fertility. *Elife* 2017. doi: 10.7554/eLife.23082.
- Chung JJ, Navarro B, Krapivinsky G, Krapivinsky L, Clapham DE. A novel gene required for male fertility and functional CATSPER channel formation in spermatozoa. *Nat Commun* 2011;**3**:153.
- Chung JJ, Shim SH, Everley RA, Gygi SP, Zhuang X, Clapham DE. Structurally distinct Ca(2+) signaling domains of sperm flagella orchestrate tyrosine phosphorylation and motility. *Cell* 2014;**4**:808–822.
- Colon JM, Ginsburg F, Lessing JB, Schoenfeld C, Goldsmith LT, Amelar RD, Dubin L, Weiss G. The effect of relaxin and prostaglandin E2 on the motility of human spermatozoa. *Fertil Steril* 1986;**6**:1133–1139.
- Correia J, Michelangeli F, Publicover S. Regulation and roles of Ca2+ stores in human sperm. *Reproduction* 2015;**2**:R65–R76.
- Cox T, Campbell P, Peterson RN. Ion channels in boar sperm plasma membranes: characterization of a cation selective channel. *Mol Reprod Dev* 1991;**2**:135–147.
- Curran J, Mohler PJ. Alternative paradigms for ion channelopathies: disorders of ion channel membrane trafficking and posttranslational modification. *Annu Rev Physiol* 2015;505–524.
- Datta J, Palmer MJ, Tanton C, Gibson LJ, Jones KG, Macdowall W, Glasier A, Sonnenberg P, Field N, Mercer CH *et al.* Prevalence of infertility and help seeking among 15 000 women and men. *Hum Reprod* 2016;**9**:2108–2118.

- De Blas GA, Darszon A, Ocampo AY, Serrano CJ, Castellano LE, Hernandez-Gonzalez EO, Chirinos M, Larrea F, Beltran C et al. TRPM8, a versatile channel in human sperm. *PLoS One* 2009;**6**:e6095.
- De Jonge C. Biological basis for human capacitation-revisited. *Hum Reprod Update* 2017;**3**:289–299.
- De Toni L, Dipresa S, Foresta C, Garolla A. Molecular bases of sperm thermotaxis: old and new knowledges. *Protein Pept Lett* 2018; **5**:446–450.
- De Toni L, Garolla A, Menegazzo M, Magagna S, Di Nisio A, Sabovic I, Rocca MS, Scattolini V, Filippi A, Foresta C. Heat sensing receptor TRPV1 is a mediator of thermotaxis in human spermatozoa. *PLoS One* 2016; **12**:e0167622.
- Denissenko P, Kantsler V, Smith DJ, Kirkman-Brown J. Human spermatozoa migration in microchannels reveals boundary-following navigation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2012;**21**:8007–8010.
- D'Hooghe T. Transparent collaboration between industry and academia can serve unmet patient need and contribute to reproductive public health. *Hum Reprod* 2017;8:1549–1555.
- Dirami T, Rode B, Jollivet M, Da Silva N, Escalier D, Gaitch N, Norez C, Tuffery P, Wolf JP, Becq F et al. Missense mutations in SLC26A8, encoding a sperm-specific activator of CFTR, are associated with human asthenozoospermia. *Am J Hum Genet* 2013;**5**: 760–766.
- Dreyfus DH, Bethel R, Gelfand EW. Cystic fibrosis 3849+10kb C > T mutation associated with severe pulmonary disease and male fertility. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1996;**2**:858–860.
- Emiliozzi C, Cordonier H, Guerin JF, Ciapa B, Benchaib M, Fenichel P. Effects of progesterone on human spermatozoa prepared for in-vitro fertilization. *Int J Androl* 1996;1:39–47.
- Ernesto JI, Weigel Munoz M, Battistone MA, Vasen G, Martinez-Lopez P, Orta G, Figueiras-Fierro D, De la Vega-Beltran JL, Moreno IA, Guidobaldi HA et al. CRISPI as a novel CatSper regulator that modulates sperm motility and orientation during fertilization. J Cell Biol 2015;**7**:1213–1224.
- Espino J, Mediero M, Lozano GM, Bejarano I, Ortiz A, Garcia JF, Pariente JA, Rodriguez AB. Reduced levels of intracellular calcium releasing in spermatozoa from asthenozoospermic patients. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* 2009;**7**:11.
- Espinosa F, de la Vega-Beltran JL, Lopez-Gonzalez I, Delgado R, Labarca P, Darszon A. Mouse sperm patch-clamp recordings reveal single Clchannels sensitive to niflumic acid, a blocker of the sperm acrosome reaction. *FEBS Lett* 1998;1:47–51.
- Falsetti C, Baldi E, Krausz C, Casano R, Failli P, Forti G. Decreased responsiveness to progesterone of spermatozoa in oligozoospermic patients. *J Androl* 1993;1:17–22.
- Figueiras-Fierro D, Acevedo JJ, Martinez-Lopez P, Escoffier J, Sepulveda FV, Balderas E, Orta G, Visconti PE, Darszon A. Electrophysiological evidence for the presence of cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator (CFTR) in mouse sperm. J Cell Physiol 2013;3:590–601.
- Foresta C, Rossato M, Di Virgilio F. Ion fluxes through the progesterone-activated channel of the sperm plasma membrane. *Biochem J* 1993;**294**:279–283.
- Garcia MA, Meizel S. Determination of the steady-state intracellular chloride concentration in capacitated human spermatozoa. *J Androl* 1999; **1**:88–93.

- Glasier AF, Anakwe R, Everington D, Martin CW, van der Spuy Z, Cheng L, Ho PC, Anderson RA. Would women trust their partners to use a male pill? *Hum Reprod* 2000;**3**:646–649.
- Gong XD, Li JC, Leung GP, Cheung KH, Wong PY. A BK(Ca) to K(v) switch during spermatogenesis in the rat seminiferous tubules. *Biol Reprod* 2002; 1:46–54.
- Goodwin LO, Leeds NB, Hurley I, Mandel FS, Pergolizzi RG, Benoff S. Isolation and characterization of the primary structure of testisspecific L-type calcium channel: implications for contraception. *Mol Hum Reprod* 1997;**3**:255–268.
- Gu Y, Kirkman-Brown JC, Korchev Y, Barratt CL, Publicover SJ. Multistate, 4-aminopyridine-sensitive ion channels in human spermatozoa. *Dev Biol* 2004;**2**:308–317.
- Guerrero A, Sanchez JA, Darszon A. Single-channel activity in sea urchin sperm revealed by the patch-clamp technique. *FEBS Lett* 1987;**2**:295–298.
- Harper CV, Barratt CL, Publicover SJ. Stimulation of human spermatozoa with progesterone gradients to simulate approach to the oocyte. Induction of [Ca(2+)](i) oscillations and cyclical transitions in flagellar beating. *J Biol Chem* 2004;**44**:46315–46325.
- Harper CV, Barratt CL, Publicover SJ, Kirkman-Brown JC. Kinetics of the progesterone-induced acrosome reaction and its relation to intracellular calcium responses in individual human spermatozoa. *Biol Reprod* 2006;**6**:933–939.
- Harper CV, Cummerson JA, White MR, Publicover SJ, Johnson PM. Dynamic resolution of acrosomal exocytosis in human sperm. *J Cell Sci* 2008; **13**:2130–2135.
- Harper CV, Kirkman-Brown JC, Barratt CL, Publicover SJ. Encoding of progesterone stimulus intensity by intracellular [Ca2+] ([Ca2+]i) in human spermatozoa. *Biochem* J 2003;**2**:407–417.
- He Y, Zou Q, Li B, Chen H, Du X, Weng S, Luo T, Zeng X. Ketamine inhibits human sperm function by Ca(2+)-related mechanism. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2016;1:501–506.
- Hermann BP, Cheng K, Singh A, Roa-De La Cruz L, Mutoji KN, Chen IC, Gildersleeve H, Lehle JD, Mayo M, Westernstroer B et al. The mammalian spermatogenesis single-cell transcriptome, from spermatogonial stem cells to spermatids. *Cell Rep* 2018;6:1650–1667.
- Hino T, Muro Y, Tamura-Nakano M, Okabe M, Tateno H, Yanagimachi R. The behavior and acrosomal status of mouse spermatozoa in vitro, and within the oviduct during fertilization after natural mating. *Biol Reprod* 2016;3:50.
- Hino T, Yanagimachi R. Active peristaltic movements and fluid production of the mouse oviduct: their roles in fluid and sperm transport and fertilizationdagger. *Biol Reprod* 2019.
- Ho K, Wolff CA, Suarez SS. CatSper-null mutant spermatozoa are unable to ascend beyond the oviductal reservoir. *Reprod Fertil Dev* 2009;**2**:345–350.
- Hwang JY, Mannowetz N, Zhang Y, Everley RA, Gygi SP, Bewersdorf J, Lishko PV, Chung JJ. Dual sensing of physiologic pH and calcium by EFCAB9 regulates sperm motility. *Cell* 2019.
- Jacob A, Hurley IR, Goodwin LO, Cooper GW, Benoff S. Molecular characterization of a voltage-gated potassium channel expressed in rat testis. *Mol Hum Reprod* 2000;**4**:303–313.
- Jaiswal D, Singh V, Dwivedi US, Trivedi S, Singh K. Chromosome microarray analysis: a case report of infertile brothers with CATSPER gene deletion. *Gene* 2014;**2**:263–265.

- Jimenez-Gonzalez MC, Gu Y, Kirkman-Brown J, Barratt CL, Publicover S. Patch-clamp 'mapping' of ion channel activity in human sperm reveals regionalisation and co-localisation into mixed clusters. J Cell Physiol 2007;3:801–808.
- Jin JL, O'Doherty AM, Wang S, Zheng H, Sanders KM, Yan W. Catsper3 and catsper4 encode two cation channel-like proteins exclusively expressed in the testis. *Biol Reprod* 2005;**6**:1235–1242.
- Kanavakis E, Tzetis M, Antoniadi T, Pistofidis G, Milligos S, Kattamis C. Cystic fibrosis mutation screening in CBAVD patients and men with obstructive azoospermia or severe oligozoospermia. *Mol Hum Reprod* 1998;**4**:333–337.
- Kantsler V, Dunkel J, Blayney M, Goldstein RE. Rheotaxis facilitates upstream navigation of mammalian sperm cells. *Elife* 2014; e02403.
- Kanwar U, Anand RJ, Sanyal SN. The effect of nifedipine, a calcium channel blocker, on human spermatozoal functions. *Contraception* 1993;**5**:453–470.
- Kaupp UB, Strunker T. Signaling in sperm: more different than similar. *Trends Cell Biol* 2017;**2**:101–109.
- Kay VJ, Coutts JR, Robertson L. Effects of pentoxifylline and progesterone on human sperm capacitation and acrosome reaction. *Hum Reprod* 1994;**12**:2318–2323.
- Kelly MC, Brown SG, Costello SM, Ramalingam M, Drew E, Publicover SJ, Barratt CLR, Martins Da Silva S. Single-cell analysis of [Ca2+]i signalling in sub-fertile men: characteristics and relation to fertilization outcome. *Hum Reprod* 2018;**6**:1023–1033.
- Kilic F, Kashikar ND, Schmidt R, Alvarez L, Dai L, Weyand I, Wiesner B, Goodwin N, Hagen V, Kaupp UB. Caged progesterone: a new tool for studying rapid nongenomic actions of progesterone. *J Am Chem Soc* 2009; **1**:4027–4030.
- Kirichok Y, Navarro B, Clapham DE. Whole-cell patch-clamp measurements of spermatozoa reveal an alkaline-activated Ca2+ channel. *Nature* 2006;**7077**:737–740.
- Kirkman-Brown JC, Barratt CL, Publicover SJ. Slow calcium oscillations in human spermatozoa. *Biochem* J 2004;**3**:827–832.
- Kirkman-Brown JC, Bray C, Stewart PM, Barratt CL, Publicover SJ. Biphasic elevation of [Ca(2+)](i) in individual human spermatozoa exposed to progesterone. *Dev Biol* 2000;**2**:326–335.
- Kirkman-Brown JC, Punt EL, Barratt CL, Publicover SJ. Zona pellucida and progesterone-induced Ca2+ signaling and acrosome reaction in human spermatozoa. J Androl 2002;**3**:306–315.
- Krausz C, Bonaccorsi L, Luconi M, Fuzzi B, Criscuoli L, Pellegrini S, Forti G, Baldi E. Intracellular calcium increase and acrosome reaction in response to progesterone in human spermatozoa are correlated with in-vitro fertilization. *Hum Reprod* 1995;1:120–124.
- Krausz C, Bonaccorsi L, Maggio P, Luconi M, Criscuoli L, Fuzzi B, Pellegrini S, Forti G, Baldi E. Two functional assays of sperm responsiveness to progesterone and their predictive values in in-vitro fertilization. *Hum Reprod* 1996;**8**:1661–1667.
- Kumar A, Majhi RK, Swain N, Giri SC, Kar S, Samanta L, Goswami C. TRPV4 is endogenously expressed in vertebrate spermatozoa and regulates intracellular calcium in human sperm. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2016;**4**:781–788.
- Kumar S, Ying YK, Hong P, Maddaiah VT. Potassium increases intracellular calcium simulating progesterone action in human sperm. *Arch Androl* 2000;**2**:93–101.

- Labarca P, Santi C, Zapata O, Morales E, Beltr'an C, Li'evano A, Darszon A. A cAMP regulated K+-selective channel from the sea urchin sperm plasma membrane. *Dev Biol* 1996;**2**:271–280.
- Lefievre L, Nash K, Mansell S, Costello S, Punt E, Correia J, Morris J, Kirkman-Brown J, Wilson SM, Barratt CL *et al.* 2-APB-potentiated channels amplify CatSper-induced Ca(2+) signals in human sperm. *Biochem J* 2012;**2**:189–200.
- Leonetti MD, Yuan P, Hsiung Y, Mackinnon R. Functional and structural analysis of the human SLO3 pH- and voltage-gated K+ channel. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2012;**47**:19274–19279.
- Li CY, Jiang LY, Chen WY, Li K, Sheng HQ, Ni Y, Lu JX, Xu WX, Zhang SY, Shi QX. CFTR is essential for sperm fertilizing capacity and is correlated with sperm quality in humans. *Hum Reprod* 2010;**2**:317–327.
- Li H, Hung PH, Suarez SS. Ejaculated mouse sperm enter cumulusoocyte complexes more efficiently in vitro than epididymal sperm. *PLoS One* 2015;**5**, e0127753.
- Li HG, Ding XF, Liao AH, Kong XB, Xiong CL. Expression of CatSper family transcripts in the mouse testis during post-natal development and human ejaculated spermatozoa: relationship to sperm motility. *Mol Hum Reprod* 2007;**5**:299–306.
- Li HG, Xu CM, Chen WY, Shi QX, Ni Y. Cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator protein expression rate in healthy spermatozoa is not correlated with ovum fertilisation rate. *Andrologia* 2012;**44**:231–238.
- Lim S, Kierzek M, O'Connor AE, Brenker C, Merriner DJ, Okuda H, Volpert M, Gaikwad A, Bianco D, Potter D et al. CRISP2 is a regulator of multiple aspects of sperm function and male fertility. *Endocrinology* 2019.
- Linares-Hernandez L, Guzman-Grenfell AM, Hicks-Gomez JJ, Gonzalez-Martinez MT. Voltage-dependent calcium influx in human sperm assessed by simultaneous optical detection of intracellular calcium and membrane potential. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1998; 1:1–12.
- Lishko PV. Contraception: search for an ideal unisex mechanism by targeting ion channels. *Trends Biochem Sci* 2016;**10**:816–818.
- Lishko PV, Botchkina IL, Fedorenko A, Kirichok Y. Acid extrusion from human spermatozoa is mediated by flagellar voltage-gated proton channel. *Cell* 2010;**3**:327–337.
- Lishko PV, Botchkina IL, Kirichok Y. Progesterone activates the principal Ca2+ channel of human sperm. *Nature* 2011;**7338**:387–391.
- Liu J, Xia J, Cho KH, Clapham DE, Ren D. CatSperbeta, a novel transmembrane protein in the CatSper channel complex. *J Biol Chem* 2007;**26**:18945–18952.
- Lobley A, Pierron V, Reynolds L, Allen L, Michalovich D. Identification of human and mouse CatSper3 and CatSper4 genes: characterisation of a common interaction domain and evidence for expression in testis. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* 2003;1:53.
- Lopez-Gonzalez I, Torres-Rodriguez P, Sanchez-Carranza O, Solis-Lopez A, Santi CM, Darszon A, Trevino CL. Membrane hyperpolarization during human sperm capacitation. *Mol Hum Reprod* 2014;**7**:619–629.
- Luo T, Chen HY, Zou QX, Wang T, Cheng YM, Wang HF, Wang F, Jin ZL, Chen Y, Weng SQ *et al.* A novel copy number variation in CATSPER2 causes idiopathic male infertility with normal semen parameters. *Hum Reprod* 2019.
- Majzoub A, Tadros NN, Polackwich AS, Sharma R, Agarwal A, Sabanegh Jr E. Vasectomy reversal semen analysis: new reference ranges predict pregnancy. *Fertil Steril* 2017;**4**:911–915.

- Mannowetz N, Miller MR, Lishko PV. Regulation of the sperm calcium channel CatSper by endogenous steroids and plant triterpenoids. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2017;**22**:5743–5748.
- Mannowetz N, Naidoo NM, Choo SA, Smith JF, Lishko PV. Slo I is the principal potassium channel of human spermatozoa. *Elife* 2013;**2**:e01009.
- Mansell SA, Publicover SJ, Barratt CL, Wilson SM. Patch clamp studies of human sperm under physiological ionic conditions reveal three functionally and pharmacologically distinct cation channels. *Mol Hum Reprod* 2014;**5**:392–408.
- Marchiani S, Tamburrino L, Benini F, Fanfani L, Dolce R, Rastrelli G, Maggi M, Pellegrini S, Baldi E. Chromatin protamination and Catsper expression in spermatozoa predict clinical outcomes after assisted reproduction programs. *Sci Rep* 2017;1:15122.
- Marson FAL, Bertuzzo CS, Ribeiro JD. Classification of CFTR mutation classes. *Lancet Respir Med* 2016;**8**:e37–e38.
- Martinez-Lopez P, Santi CM, Trevino CL, Ocampo-Gutierrez AY, Acevedo JJ, Alisio A, Salkoff LB, Darszon A. Mouse sperm K+ currents stimulated by pH and cAMP possibly coded by Slo3 channels. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2009;**2**:204–209.
- Martins da Silva SJ, Brown SG, Sutton K, King LV, Ruso H, Gray DW, Wyatt PG, Kelly MC, Barratt CLR, Hope AG. Drug discovery for male subfertility using high-throughput screening: a new approach to an unsolved problem. *Hum Reprod* 2017;**5**:974–984.
- Mata-Martinez E, Darszon A, Trevino CL. pH-dependent Ca(+2) oscillations prevent untimely acrosome reaction in human sperm. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 2018;1:146–152.
- Mata-Rocha M, Alvarado-Cuevas E, Hernandez-Sanchez J, Cerecedo D, Felix R, Hernandez-Reyes A, Tesoro-Cruz E, Oviedo N. Molecular cloning and analysis of the Catsper I gene promoter. *Mol Hum Reprod* 2013;**5**:336–347.
- Mata-Rocha M, Hernandez-Sanchez J, Guarneros G, de la Chesnaye E, Sanchez-Tusie AA, Trevino CL, Felix R, Oviedo N. The transcription factors Sox5 and Sox9 regulate Catsper I gene expression. *FEBS Lett* 2014; **18**:3352–3360.
- Mbizvo MT, Thomas S, Fulgham DL, Alexander NJ. Serum hormone levels affect sperm function. *Fertil Steril* 1990;1:113–120.
- Meizel S, Turner KO. Progesterone acts at the plasma membrane of human sperm. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* 1991; 1–3:R1–R5.
- Meizel S, Turner KO, Nuccitelli R. Progesterone triggers a wave of increased free calcium during the human sperm acrosome reaction. *Dev Biol* 1997;1:67–75.
- Miki K, Clapham DE. Rheotaxis guides mammalian sperm. *Curr Biol* 2013;**6**:443–452.
- Miller MR, Kenny SJ, Mannowetz N, Mansell SA, Wojcik M, Mendoza S, Zucker RS, Xu K, Lishko PV. Asymmetrically positioned flagellar control units regulate human sperm rotation. *Cell Rep* 2018;**10**:2606–2613.
- Miller MR, Mannowetz N, lavarone AT, Safavi R, Gracheva EO, Smith JF, Hill RZ, Bautista DM, Kirichok Y, Lishko PV. Unconventional endocannabinoid signaling governs sperm activation via the sex hormone progesterone. *Science* 2016;**6285**:555–559.
- Morales P, Pizarro E, Kong M, Kerr B, Ceric F, Vigil P. Gonadotropinreleasing hormone-stimulated sperm binding to the human zona is mediated by a calcium influx. *Biol Reprod* 2000;**2**:635–642.
- Mortimer D, Chorney MJ, Curtis EF, Trounson AO. Calcium dependence of human sperm fertilizing ability. J Exp Zool 1988;2:194–201.

- Mundt N, Spehr M, Lishko PV. TRPV4 is the temperature-sensitive ion channel of human sperm. *Elife* 2018. doi: 10.7554/eLife.35853.
- Munoz-Garay C, de la Vega-Beltran JL, Delgado R, Labarca P, Felix R, Darszon A. Inwardly rectifying K(+) channels in spermatogenic cells: functional expression and implication in sperm capacitation. *Dev Biol* 2001;**1**:261–274.
- Muro Y, Hasuwa H, Isotani A, Miyata H, Yamagata K, Ikawa M, Yanagimachi R, Okabe M. Behavior of mouse spermatozoa in the female reproductive tract from soon after mating to the beginning of fertilization. *Biol Reprod* 2016;**4**:80.
- Navarro B, Kirichok Y, Clapham DE. KSper, a pH-sensitive K+ current that controls sperm membrane potential. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2007; **18**:7688–7692.
- Nishigaki T, Jose O, Gonzalez-Cota AL, Romero F, Trevino CL, Darszon A. Intracellular pH in sperm physiology. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2014;**3**:1149–1158.
- Nosrati R, Driouchi A, Yip CM, Sinton D. Two-dimensional slither swimming of sperm within a micrometre of a surface. *Nat Commun* 2015;**6**:8703.
- Oehninger S, Blackmore P, Morshedi M, Sueldo C, Acosta AA, Alexander NJ. Defective calcium influx and acrosome reaction (spontaneous and progesterone-induced) in spermatozoa of infertile men with severe teratozoospermia. *Fertil Steril* 1994;**2**:349–354.
- Olivares A, Hernandez-Reyes A, Felix R, Forero A, Mata-Rocha M, Hernandez-Sanchez J, Santos I, Aguirre-Alvarado C, Oviedo N. Regulation of CATSPER1 expression by the testis-determining gene SRY. *PLoS One* 2018;**10**:e0205744.
- Onwuli DO, Beltran-Alvarez P. An update on transcriptional and post-translational regulation of brain voltage-gated sodium channels. *Amino Acids* 2016;**3**:641–651.
- Orta G, de la Vega-Beltran JL, Martin-Hidalgo D, Santi CM, Visconti PE, Darszon A. CatSper channels are regulated by protein kinase A. *J Biol Chem* 2018;**43**:16830–16841.
- Orta G, Ferreira G, Jose O, Trevino CL, Beltran C, Darszon A. Human spermatozoa possess a calcium-dependent chloride channel that may participate in the acrosomal reaction. *J Physiol* 2012;11:2659–2675.
- O'Toole CM, Roldan ER, Fraser LR. Role for Ca2+ channels in the signal transduction pathway leading to acrosomal exocytosis in human spermatozoa. *Mol Reprod Dev* 1996;**2**:204–211.
- Oviedo N, Ortiz-Borrayo L, Hernandez-Sanchez J, Jimenez-Badillo SE, Emiliano TC, Moreno-Navor E, Aguirre-Alvarado C, Bekker-Mendez VC. Human CATSPERI promoter is regulated by CREBI and CREMtau transcriptional factors in vitro. *Arch Med Res* 2018.
- Pacey AA, Davies N, Warren MA, Barratt CL, Cooke ID. Hyperactivation may assist human spermatozoa to detach from intimate association with the endosalpinx. *Hum Reprod* 1995;10: 2603–2609.
- Park KH, Kim BJ, Kang J, Nam TS, Lim JM, Kim HT, Park JK, Kim YG, Chae SW, Kim UH. Ca2+ signaling tools acquired from prostasomes are required for progesterone-induced sperm motility. *Sci Signal* 2011;**173**:ra31.
- Patrat C, Serres C, Jouannet P. Progesterone induces hyperpolarization after a transient depolarization phase in human spermatozoa. *Biol Reprod* 2002;**6**:1775–1780.
- Patrizio P, Ord T, Silber SJ, Asch RH. Cystic fibrosis mutations impair the fertilization rate of epididymal sperm from men with congenital absence of the vas deferens. *Hum Reprod* 1993;**8**:1259–1263.

- Perez-Cerezales S, Boryshpolets S, Eisenbach M. Behavioral mechanisms of mammalian sperm guidance. *Asian J Androl* 2015;**4**:628–632.
- Pinto FM, Ravina CG, Fernandez-Sanchez M, Gallardo-Castro M, Cejudo-Roman A, Candenas L. Molecular and functional characterization of voltage-gated sodium channels in human sperm. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* 2009;**7**:71.
- Placzek R, Ohling H, Waller U, Krassnigg F, Schill WB. Calcium antagonists inhibit the motility of washed human spermatozoa. *Andrologia* 1987;**6**:640–643.
- Plant A, McLaughlin EA, Ford WC. Intracellular calcium measurements in individual human sperm demonstrate that the majority can respond to progesterone. *Fertil Steril* 1995;**6**:1213–1215.
- Publicover S, Barratt CL. Chloride channels join the sperm 'channelome'. J Physiol (Lond) 2012;Pt 11:2553.
- Puga Molina LC, Pinto NA, Torres Rodriguez P, Romarowski A, Vicens Sanchez A, Visconti PE, Darszon A, Trevino CL, Buffone MG. Essential role of CFTR in PKA-dependent phosphorylation, alkalinization, and hyperpolarization during human sperm capacitation. *J Cell Physiol* 2017;**6**:1404–1414.
- Qi H, Moran MM, Navarro B, Chong JA, Krapivinsky G, Krapivinsky L, Kirichok Y, Ramsey IS, Quill TA, Clapham DE. All four CatSper ion channel proteins are required for male fertility and sperm cell hyperactivated motility. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2007;**4**:1219–1223.
- Quill TA, Ren D, Clapham DE, Garbers DL. A voltage-gated ion channel expressed specifically in spermatozoa. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S* A 2001;**22**:12527–12531.
- Quill TA, Sugden SA, Rossi KL, Doolittle LK, Hammer RE, Garbers DL. Hyperactivated sperm motility driven by CatSper2 is required for fertilization. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2003;**25**:14869–14874.
- Rehfeld A, Dissing S, Skakkebaek NE. Chemical UV filters mimic the effect of progesterone on Ca2+ signaling in human sperm cells. *Endocrinology* 2016;**11**:4297–4308.
- Reilly JN, McLaughlin EA, Stanger SJ, Anderson AL, Hutcheon K, Church K, Mihalas BP, Tyagi S, Holt JE, Eamens AL *et al.* Characterisation of mouse epididymosomes reveals a complex profile of microRNAs and a potential mechanism for modification of the sperm epigenome. *Sci Rep* 2016;**6**:31794.
- Ren D, Navarro B, Perez G, Jackson AC, Hsu S, Shi Q, Tilly JL, Clapham DE. A sperm ion channel required for sperm motility and male fertility. *Nature* 2001;**6856**:603–609.
- Rennhack A, Schiffer C, Brenker C, Fridman D, Nitao ET, Cheng YM, Tamburrino L, Balbach M, Stolting G, Berger TK *et al.* A novel crossspecies inhibitor to study the function of CatSper Ca(2+) channels in sperm. *Br J Pharmacol* 2018;**15**:3144–3161.
- Roblero L, Guadarrama A, Ortiz ME, Fernandez E, Zegers-Hochschild F. High potassium concentration improves the rate of acrosome reaction in human spermatozoa. *Fertil Steril* 1988;**4**:676–679.
- Rode B, Dirami T, Bakouh N, Rizk-Rabin M, Norez C, Lhuillier P, Lores P, Jollivet M, Melin P, Zvetkova I *et al.* The testis anion transporter TAT1 (SLC26A8) physically and functionally interacts with the cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator channel: a potential role during sperm capacitation. *Hum Mol Genet* 2012;**6**:1287–1298.
- Romarowski A, Sanchez-Cardenas C, Ramirez-Gomez HV, Puga Molina Ldel C, Trevino CL, Hernandez-Cruz A, Darszon A, Buffone MG. A specific transitory increase in intracellular calcium induced by progesterone promotes acrosomal exocytosis in mouse sperm. *Biol Reprod* 2016;**3**:63.

- Saggiorato G, Alvarez L, Jikeli JF, Kaupp UB, Gompper G, Elgeti J. Human sperm steer with second harmonics of the flagellar beat. *Nat Commun* 2017;1:1415-017-01462-y.
- Salvatore L, D'Adamo MC, Polishchuk R, Salmona M, Pessia M. Localization and age-dependent expression of the inward rectifier K+ channel subunit Kir 5.1 in a mammalian reproductive system. *FEBS Lett* 1999;**2–3**:146–152.
- Sanchez-Cardenas C, Servin-Vences MR, Jose O, Trevino CL, Hernandez-Cruz A, Darszon A. Acrosome reaction and Ca(2)(+) imaging in single human spermatozoa: new regulatory roles of Ca(2)(+)i. *Biol Reprod* 2014;**3**:67.
- Santi CM, Darszon A, Hernandez-Cruz A. A dihydropyridine-sensitive T-type Ca2+ current is the main Ca2+ current carrier in mouse primary spermatocytes. *Am J Physiol* 1996;**5**:C1583–C1593.
- Santi CM, Martinez-Lopez P, de la Vega-Beltran JL, Butler A, Alisio A, Darszon A, Salkoff L. The SLO3 sperm-specific potassium channel plays a vital role in male fertility. *FEBS Lett* 2010;**5**:1041–1046.
- Schaefer M, Habenicht UF, Brautigam M, Gudermann T. Steroidal sigma receptor ligands affect signaling pathways in human spermatozoa. *Biol Reprod* 2000;1:57–63.
- Schaefer M, Hofmann T, Schultz G, Gudermann T. A new prostaglandin E receptor mediates calcium influx and acrosome reaction in human spermatozoa. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1988;**6**:3008–3013.
- Schiffer C, Muller A, Egeberg DL, Alvarez L, Brenker C, Rehfeld A, Frederiksen H, Waschle B, Kaupp UB, Balbach M et al. Direct action of endocrine disrupting chemicals on human sperm. EMBO Rep 2014;7:58–765.
- Schlegel PN, Cohen J, Goldstein M, Alikani M, Adler A, Gilbert BR, Palermo GD, Rosenwaks Z. Cystic fibrosis gene mutations do not affect sperm function during in vitro fertilization with micromanipulation for men with bilateral congenital absence of vas deferens. *Fertil Steril* 1995;**2**:421–426.
- Schuel H, Burkman LJ, Lippes J, Crickard K, Forester E, Piomelli D, Giuffrida A. N-Acylethanolamines in human reproductive fluids. *Chem Phys Lipids* 2002; 1–2:211–227.
- Schuffner AA, Bastiaan HS, Duran HE, Lin ZY, Morshedi M, Franken DR, Oehninger S. Zona pellucida-induced acrosome reaction in human sperm: dependency on activation of pertussis toxinsensitive G(i) protein and extracellular calcium, and priming effect of progesterone and follicular fluid. *Mol Hum Reprod* 2002;**8**:722–727.
- Schulz S, Jakubiczka S, Kropf S, Nickel I, Muschke P, Kleinstein J. Increased frequency of cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator gene mutations in infertile males. *Fertil Steril* 2006;1:135–138.
- Seifert R, Flick M, Bonigk W, Alvarez L, Trotschel C, Poetsch A, Muller A, Goodwin N, Pelzer P, Kashikar ND et al. The CatSper channel controls chemosensation in sea urchin sperm. EMBO J 2015;**3**:379–392.
- Serrano CJ, Trevino CL, Felix R, Darszon A. Voltage-dependent Ca(2+) channel subunit expression and immunolocalization in mouse spermatogenic cells and sperm. FEBS Lett 1999; 1–2:171–176.
- Serres C, Feneux D, Berthon B. Decrease of internal free calcium and human sperm movement. *Cell Motil Cytoskeleton* 1991;**3**:228–240.
- Servin-Vences MR, Tatsu Y, Ando H, Guerrero A, Yumoto N, Darszon A, Nishigaki T. A caged progesterone analog alters intracellular Ca2+ and flagellar bending in human sperm. *Reproduction* 2012;1:101–109.

- Shimizu Y, Yorimitsu A, Maruyama Y, Kubota T, Aso T, Bronson RA. Prostaglandins induce calcium influx in human spermatozoa. *Mol Hum Reprod* 1988;**6**:555–561.
- Smith JF, Syritsyna O, Fellous M, Serres C, Mannowetz N, Kirichok Y, Lishko PV. Disruption of the principal, progesterone-activated sperm Ca2+ channel in a CatSper2-deficient infertile patient. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2013;17:6823–6828.
- de Souza DAS, Faucz FR, Pereira-Ferrari L, Sotomaior VS, Raskin S. Congenital bilateral absence of the vas deferens as an atypical form of cystic fibrosis: reproductive implications and genetic counseling. *Andrology* 2018;1:127–135.
- Stock CE, Fraser LR. Divalent cations, capacitation and the acrosome reaction in human spermatozoa. J Reprod Fertil 1989;2: 463–478.
- Strunker T, Goodwin N, Brenker C, Kashikar ND, Weyand I, Seifert R, Kaupp UB. The CatSper channel mediates progesteroneinduced Ca2+ influx in human sperm. *Nature* 2011;**7338**: 382–386.
- Stuhrmann M, Dork T. CFTR gene mutations and male infertility. Andrologia 2000;**2**:71–83.
- Stuppia L, Antonucci I, Binni F, Brandi A, Grifone N, Colosimo A, De Santo M, Gatta V, Gelli G, Guida V et al. Screening of mutations in the CFTR gene in 1195 couples entering assisted reproduction technique programs. Eur J Hum Genet 2005;8:959–964.
- Su TW, Choi I, Feng J, Huang K, McLeod E, Ozcan A. Sperm trajectories form chiral ribbons. *Sci Rep* 2013;**3**:1664.
- Su TW, Xue L, Ozcan A. High-throughput lensfree 3D tracking of human sperms reveals rare statistics of helical trajectories. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2012;**40**:16018–16022.
- Suarez SS. Control of hyperactivation in sperm. *Hum Reprod Update* 2008;**6**:647–657.
- Sullivan R, Mieusset R. The human epididymis: its function in sperm maturation. *Hum Reprod Update* 2016;**5**:574–587.
- Tamburino L, Guglielmino A, Venti E, Chamayou S. Molecular analysis of mutations and polymorphisms in the CFTR gene in male infertility. *Reprod Biomed Online* 2008;1:27–35.
- Tamburrino L, Marchiani S, Minetti F, Forti G, Muratori M, Baldi E. The CatSper calcium channel in human sperm: relation with motility and involvement in progesterone-induced acrosome reaction. *Hum Reprod* 2014;**3**:418–428.
- Tamburrino L, Marchiani S, Vicini E, Muciaccia B, Cambi M, Pellegrini S, Forti G, Muratori M, Baldi E. Quantification of CatSper1 expression in human spermatozoa and relation to functional parameters. *Hum Reprod* 2015;**7**:1532–1544.
- Tavares RS, Mansell S, Barratt CL, Wilson SM, Publicover SJ, Ramalho-Santos J. p,p'-DDE activates CatSper and compromises human sperm function at environmentally relevant concentrations. *Hum Reprod* 2013;**12**:3167–3177.
- Tay JI, Rutherford AJ, Killick SR, Maguiness SD, Partridge RJ, Leese HJ. Human tubal fluid: production, nutrient composition and response to adrenergic agents. *Hum Reprod* 1997;11:2451–2456.
- Teves ME, Barbano F, Guidobaldi HA, Sanchez R, Miska W, Giojalas LC. Progesterone at the picomolar range is a chemoattractant for mammalian spermatozoa. *Fertil Steril* 2006;**3**:745–749.
- Thomas P, Meizel S. An influx of extracellular calcium is required for initiation of the human sperm acrosome reaction induced by human follicular fluid. *Gamete Res* 1988;**4**:397–411.

- Tiwari-Woodruff SK, Cox TC. Boar sperm plasma membrane Ca(2+)-selective channels in planar lipid bilayers. *Am J Physiol* 1995; **5**:C1284–C1294.
- Tomaiuolo R, Fausto M, Elce A, Strina I, Ranieri A, Amato F, Castaldo G, De Placido G, Alviggi C. Enhanced frequency of CFTR gene variants in couples who are candidates for assisted reproductive technology treatment. *Clin Chem Lab Med* 2011;**8**:1289–1293.
- Uhler ML, Leung A, Chan SY, Wang C. Direct effects of progesterone and antiprogesterone on human sperm hyperactivated motility and acrosome reaction. *Fertil Steril* 1992;**6**:1191–1198.
- Wang G, Guo Y, Zhou T, Shi X, Yu J, Yang Y, Wu Y, Wang J, Liu M, Chen X et al. In-depth proteomic analysis of the human sperm reveals complex protein compositions. J Proteomics 2013; 114–122.
- Wang H, Liu J, Cho KH, Ren D. A novel, single, transmembrane protein CATSPERG is associated with CATSPERI channel protein. *Biol Reprod* 2009;**3**:539–544.
- Wei A, Solaro C, Lingle C, Salkoff L. Calcium sensitivity of BK-type KCa channels determined by a separable domain. *Neuron* 1994; **3**:671–681.
- Wennemuth G, Westenbroek RE, Xu T, Hille B, Babcock DF. CaV2.2 and CaV2.3 (N- and R-type) Ca2+ channels in depolarization-evoked entry of Ca2+ into mouse sperm. *J Biol Chem* 2000;**28**:21210–21217.
- Westenbroek RE, Babcock DF. Discrete regional distributions suggest diverse functional roles of calcium channel alpha1 subunits in sperm. *Dev Biol* 1999;**2**:457–469.
- Weyand I, Godde M, Frings S, Weiner J, Muller F, Altenhofen W, Hatt H, Kaupp UB. Cloning and functional expression of a cyclic-nucleotide-gated channel from mammalian sperm. *Nature* 1994;**6474**:859–863.
- Wiesner B, Weiner J, Middendorff R, Hagen V, Kaupp UB, Weyand I. Cyclic nucleotide-gated channels on the flagellum control Ca2+ entry into sperm. J Cell Biol 1998;2:473–484.
- Williams HL, Mansell S, Alasmari W, Brown SG, Wilson SM, Sutton KA, Miller MR, Lishko PV, Barratt CL, Publicover SJ et al. Specific loss of CatSper function is sufficient to compromise fertilizing capacity of human spermatozoa. *Hum Reprod* 2015;**12**:2737–2746.
- Xia XM, Zhang X, Lingle CJ. Ligand-dependent activation of Slo family channels is defined by interchangeable cytosolic domains. *J Neurosci* 2004;**24**:5585–5591.
- Xiao S, Coppeta JR, Rogers HB, Isenberg BC, Zhu J, Olalekan SA, McKinnon KE, Dokic D, Rashedi AS, Haisenleder DJ et al. A microfluidic culture model of the human reproductive tract and 28-day menstrual cycle. Nat Commun 2017;14584.
- Xu WM, Shi QX, Chen WY, Zhou CX, Ni Y, Rowlands DK, Yi Liu G, Zhu H, Ma ZG, Wang XF *et al.* Cystic fibrosis transmembrane conductance regulator is vital to sperm fertilizing capacity and male fertility. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2007;**23**:9816–9821.
- Yanagimachi R, Harumi T, Matsubara H, Yan W, Yuan S, Hirohashi N, Iida T, Yamaha E, Arai K, Matsubara T *et al.* Chemical and physical guidance of fish spermatozoa into the egg through the micropyledagger,double dagger. *Biol Reprod* 2017;**4**:780–799.

- Yang C, Zeng XH, Zhou Y, Xia XM, Lingle CJ. LRRC52 (leucinerich-repeat-containing protein 52), a testis-specific auxiliary subunit of the alkalization-activated Slo3 channel. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2011;**48**:19419–19424.
- Yang J, Serres C, Philibert D, Robel P, Baulieu EE, Jouannet P. Progesterone and RU486: opposing effects on human sperm. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 1994;**2**:529–533.
- Yeung CH, Cooper TG. Effects of the ion-channel blocker quinine on human sperm volume, kinematics and mucus penetration, and the involvement of potassium channels. *Mol Hum Reprod* 2001;**9**:819–828.
- Yeung CH, Cooper TG. Potassium channels involved in human sperm volume regulation—quantitative studies at the protein and mRNA levels. *Mol Reprod Dev* 2008;**4**:659–668.
- Yi YJ, Sung DY, Millette C, Sutovsky M, Kennedy C, Sutovsky P, Thompson W, Thomas K. Sperm GIRK2-containing K+ inward rectifying channels participate in sperm capacitation and fertilization. Syst Biol Reprod Med 2011;**6**:296–308.
- Zeng XH, Navarro B, Xia XM, Clapham DE, Lingle CJ. Simultaneous knockout of Slo3 and CatSperI abolishes all alkalizationand voltage-activated current in mouse spermatozoa. *J Gen Physiol* 2013;**3**:305–313.
- Zeng XH, Yang C, Kim ST, Lingle CJ, Xia XM. Deletion of the Slo3 gene abolishes alkalization-activated K+ current in mouse spermatozoa. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2011;**14**:5879–5884.
- Zeng XH, Yang C, Xia XM, Liu M, Lingle CJ. SLO3 auxiliary subunit LRRC52 controls gating of sperm KSPER currents and is critical for normal fertility. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2015;**8**:2599–2604.
- Zhang X, Zeng X, Lingle CJ. Slo3 K+ channels: voltage and pH dependence of macroscopic currents. *J Gen Physiol* 2006;**3**:317–336.
- Zhang Y, Malekpour M, Al-Madani N, Kahrizi K, Zanganeh M, Lohr NJ, Mohseni M, Mojahedi F, Daneshi A, Najmabadi H *et al.* Sensorineural deafness and male infertility: a contiguous gene deletion syndrome. *J Med Genet* 2007;**4**:233–240.
- Zhang Z, Liu J, Meriano J, Ru C, Xie S, Luo J, Sun Y. Human sperm rheotaxis: a passive physical process. *Sci Rep* 2016;**6**:23553.
- Zhao R, Kennedy K, De Blas GA, Orta G, Pavarotti MA, Arias RJ, de la Vega-Beltran JL, Li Q, Dai H, Perozo E *et al.* Role of human HvI channels in sperm capacitation and white blood cell respiratory burst established by a designed peptide inhibitor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 2018;**50**:E11847–E11856.
- Zhao Y, Chegini N. Human fallopian tube expresses granulocytemacrophage colony stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and GM-CSF alpha and beta receptors and contain immunoreactive GM-CSF protein. J Clin Endocrinol Metab 1994;**2**:662–665.
- Zhou JH, Zhou QZ, Lyu XM, Zhu T, Chen ZJ, Chen MK, Xia H, Wang CY, Qi T, Li X *et al.* The expression of cysteine-rich secretory protein 2 (CRISP2) and its specific regulator miR-27b in the spermatozoa of patients with asthenozoospermia. *Biol Reprod* 2015;1:28.
- Zhou JH, Zhou QZ, Yang JK, Lyu XM, Bian J, Guo WB, Chen ZJ, Xia M, Xia H, Qi T et al. MicroRNA-27a-mediated repression of cysteinerich secretory protein 2 translation in asthenoteratozoospermic patients. *Asian J Androl* 2017;**5**:591–595.